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OUR MANDATE

We derive our Mandate from the 6 objectives of the Competition Act:

• To promote efficiency, adaptability and the development of the economy

• To provide consumers with competitive prices and product choice

• To promote employment and advance the social and economic welfare of South Africans

• To expand opportunities for South African participation in world markets and recognise the role of foreign competition

• To ensure that small and medium enterprises have an equitable opportunity to participate in the economy

• To provide a greater spread of ownership in particular that of historically disadvantaged persons



Abbreviations

Act - Competition Act

BEE - Black Economic Empowerment

CAC - Competition Appeal Court 

Commission - Competition Commission

Co-ops - Agricultural Co-operatives 

COTII - Council of Trade and Industry Institutions 

CSD - Central Securities Depository 

ESI - Electricity Supply Industry 

FSB - Financial Services Board

HDI - Historically Disadvantaged Individuals

ICN - International Competition Network 

IT - Information Technology 

MSA - Main Supply Agreement 

OECD - Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development

PFMA - Public Finance Management Act

PMS - Performance Management System 

PSA - Public Service Association 

REDs - Regional Electricity Distributors 

SARF - South African Regulators’ Forum

SMME - Small Medium and Micro Enterprises

Tribunal - Competition Tribunal

US - United States 
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1.1 Overview

The last year has been challenging.  The Competition Commission’s

heavy workload has continued while, at the same time, we have

initiated some important cases that will demand significant attention

over the coming year. Moreover the role of competition in economic

development is increasingly on the agenda of policymakers both

internationally and at home; creating high expectations on agencies

that enforce competition law.  

South Africa’s economic policy envisages an expanding economy

where competitive firms can efficiently meet local demands and

participate in international markets. Underpinning this is a vision of

economic agents participating freely and creatively in economic activity

with an expectation to fair treatment and protection from abuse. 

The Competition Commission is an important policy instrument in

creating these conditions. Specifically, we are an independent statutory

authority responsible for preventing and eradicating anti-competitive

structures and behaviour in the economy. A sign of the growing

recognition of the Commission’s important role in this regard is the

steadily increasing number of complaints we have received from

consumers.

Competition policy is, at its core, concerned with the welfare of

consumers. The Competition Commission therefore unashamedly and

unapologetically stands first and foremost in support of the interests of

consumers in improving the quality, choice and prices of products and

services. 

That is why we ultimately argued for the prohibition of the merger of

Sasol and Engen, as it could have led to higher prices for petroleum

products in a deregulated environment. Similarly, we successfully

prosecuted SAA for abusing its market power in providing incentives

for travel agents to offer SAA tickets to consumers even when a

cheaper alternative was available. We also concluded consent orders

with motor vehicle manufacturers and dealers over practices of

collusion and resale price maintenance in the industry.

Merger control is aimed at preventing substantial increases in market

power and its likely exercise in the future. The Commission’s merger

evaluation also takes into account the wider public interest issues,

such as the efffect of the merger on employment and BEE.  A

significant number of mergers in the year under review were approved

with conditions that limited job losses. Conditions imposed on the

merger between Tiger Brands and Ashton Canning, ensured skills

training for retrenched seasonal farm workers in the Ashton

community.

The Commission also plays an important advocacy role in encouraging

firms to comply with the Competition Act and in engaging policymakers

to ensure consistency with competition policy principles.

MR S RAMBURUTH: ACTING COMMISSIONER



Perhaps the most valuable role of the Commission is that its inquiries,

into both mergers and anticompetitive conduct, create awareness

about how markets work. Greater transparency in markets empowers

consumers and other stakeholders to make informed decisions. We

have demonstrated in some important consumer markets that our

interventions impact on pricing decisions and consumer choice. The

Commission’s inquiry into bank charges and access to the National

Payment System promises to spur greater competition and a serious

re-think of regulatory governance in the sector. 

We are proud that, over the years, the Commission has established

itself as an independent and reputable institution. In the relatively short

period of its existence, it has built a sophisticated organisation with best

practice procedures and has tackled issues relevant to businesses and

consumers in our economy. This has been due largely to the focused

leadership of the former Commissioner, Menzi Simelane, to whom the

Competition Commission is indebted. We wish him great success in

his new posting.

We are now in our seventh year of operation. The institution has

accumulated considerable experience in this period through “learning

by doing”. However, as our jurisprudence develops, our stakeholders

are becoming more sophisticated, placing more and different demands

on us. In the next period we will consolidate our experience and chart

a strategic path forward for the institution. This will include reviewing

our knowledge management systems, prioritising the complaints we

investigate and intervening strategically through a combination of

advocacy and enforcement. Amongst the challenges we face is to

build upon our human capital and position the Competition

Commission as an employer of choice for both young and experienced

lawyers and economists.

The Commission functions as an institution through the individual and

collective efforts of its employees. I thank the staff of the Commission

for their hard work and dedication in ensuring that the organisation

fulfils its important mandate. I am indebted also to the divisional

managers who participate in the Commission’s Executive Committee

and ensure that the expectations of our stakeholders are met. 
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1.2 Highlights

• The Sasol / Engen merger was arguably the largest one to come

before the Competition Authorities. We investigated, made

recommendations to and participated in the merger hearings. This

merger would have resulted in the creation of the country’s largest,

integrated petrochemicals company. It would have had a profound

impact on the market and the regulation of this sector. The hearing

stretched over 19 days, with five participating interveners. Deeply

aware of the strategic importance of this sector to the economy,

we argued that the transaction would give rise to anti-competitive

consequences. The Tribunal prohibited the merger on the grounds

that it would have prevented or lessened competition in the

market for fuels, which would have led to higher prices in a price

deregulated market. 

• The case against SAA for alleged abuse of dominance set a

precedent on exclusionary conduct by a dominant firm. We found

SAA’s incentive scheme for travel agents meant that consumers

were flying on more expensive tickets. SAA would have been able

to perpetuate its dominance, restrict new entry into the market,

and inhibit rivals from expanding in the market. SAA was fined an

unprecedented R45-million for this anti-competitive conduct.

Subsequently we entered into negotiations with SAA and settled

three other cases that resulted in consent agreements

incorporating penalties totalling an additional R55-million.

• We discovered that six motor vehicle manufactures / importers

were practicing minimum resale price maintenance, in

contravention of the Act.  We found that dealership councils

provided a forum through which dealers could collude. Following

our investigations, the motor vehicle companies and the dealers 

.

signed consent orders and paid fines totalling R51 million for their

conduct.   

• Alerted by the public and the study commissioned by the National

Treasury and the Reserve Bank, we commissioned our own

research into the national payments system and competition in the

banking sector. Our report revealed that the structure and lack of

transparency in the National Payment System and banking sector

might have anti-competitive outcomes. We will hold public

hearings on the banking sector in the next financial year. The

hearings will promote market transparency and enable us, and

other relevant regulatory authorities, to determine the necessity of

future interventions in this sector. 

• At an international level, South Africa was the first African country

selected to host the Annual Conference of the International

Competition Network (ICN). Held in Cape Town in May 2006, this

forum brought together 94 competition authorities from 83

countries. We look forward to reporting on the outcomes of this

conference in the next financial year.  The Competition Division of

the OECD has granted us ‘observer status’. As non-members of

the OECD, this status will be highly beneficial as it allows us the

opportunity to participate and benefit from the OECD’s capacity

building programs and to share our experiences with our

colleagues from OECD countries. Our participation in these

international forums enables us to benchmark our competition

policy with that of our peers and ensures that issues affecting

developing countries are brought to the fore.
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Our Activities
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2.1 PROHIBITED PRACTICES 

South Africa has a history of excessive concentrations of ownership

and control, and inadequate restraints against anti-competitive

business practices. The enforcement of competition law is necessary

to ensure that the economy functions fairly and efficiently. The Act

prohibits restrictive horizontal and vertical practices as well as the abuse

of dominance. We investigate complaints from the public or on our own

initiative. Our work includes information gathering, economic analysis

and the prosecution of cases. This function is typically resource

intensive and about 40% of our funds are utilised in pursuit of these

activities. 

During the year under review we received 105 complaints and initiated

three investigations. In comparison to the previous year, complaints

received in the year under review increased by 28%. We carried over

39 cases from the previous year and finalised a further 80 cases. We

referred six cases to the Tribunal and 74 cases were non-referred.

NOTE: Reasons for non-referrals may include any one or more of the

following:

• the complaint is related to contractual disputes between parties

(with no effect on competition or on the market as a whole) 

• there is a clear lack of dominance in an "abuse of dominance"

complaint

• the conduct complained of does not result in substantial lessening

of competition in the market

• the alleged anti-competitive agreements result in more pro-

competitive gains than anti-competitive effects in the market

• evidence found during the investigation does not support the

alleged contraventions

• complaints were incorrectly filed as a Commission investigation

Of the complaints received and not referred, 27 involved SMMEs, HDIs

or BEE entities. Whilst the Act lists the promotion of SMMEs and BEE

as one its main objectives, it does not contain provisions to deal

adequately with complaints involving SMMEs and black business. 

Figure 1: Prohibited practices:  2005/06, 2004/05, 2003/04, and 2002/03

2005/06 2004/05 2003/04 2002/03

Total number of complaints received 105 82 94 82

Total number of initiated cases 3 12 1 7

Total number of investigated cases 134 135 141 152

Total number of finalised cases 80 63 100 81

Total number of non-referred cases 74 51 89 81

Total number of referred cases 6 8 11 -
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Figure 2: Complaints per section of the Act

Provisions of the Act Number
received

Number
resolved

Number under
investigation

Horizontally restrictive practices (section 4) 12 7 5

Vertically restrictive practices (section 5) 18 9 9

Abuse of dominance (sections 8 & 9) 42 28 14

Investigations in respect of more than one section of the Act 56 27 29

No jurisdiction 16 9 -

2.1.1 SIGNIFICANT ENFORCEMENT CASES

The following were the significant enforcement cases the Commission

handled during the year under review:

Diversified Citrus Marketing Inc (DCM) vs USA Citrus Alliance

(Alliance)

This case involved SA citrus fruit destined for the US market. DCM

lodged a complaint against Alliance for both indirectly fixing the fruit’s

selling price, and for imposing restrictions on the volume of fruit

exported by SA producers to the US market. Alliance justified its

conduct by presenting evidence that SA producers could not compete

individually in the US market. Alliance however admitted that its

conduct was in contravention of the Act and the matter was settled

with a consent order and an administrative penalty was imposed.

Alliance was encouraged to consider an exemption application on the

basis of promotion of exports and this has since been lodged. The

Commission subsequently granted the exemption.

Competition Commission vs Sasol Chemical Industries Limited

(SCI); Yara South Africa (Pty) Ltd (Yara) and Omnia Fertilizer

Limited (Omnia)  

Nutri-Flo lodged a complaint alleging that SCI was abusing its

dominance in the fertilizer markets by charging excessive prices for

certain fertilizers. They also alleged that SCI was colluding to fix the

prices of certain fertilizers with its competitors, Yara and Omnia.

Both SCI and Omnia manufacture and supply fertilizer. SCI is the

dominant producer of the basic raw materials and intermediates

needed for nitrogen-based fertilizers, whilst Nutri-Flo is a small fertilizer

firm. Nutri-Flo sources most of its raw materials and straight fertilizers

from SCI, and competes with SCI, Omnia and Yara in the retail market.  

Our investigations confirmed that SCI dominates the market for straight

nitrogen-based fertilizers such as Ammonia, ANS and LAN and that

they were abusing this dominance by charging excessive prices. We

also found that there was a coordinated practice and / or

understanding between SCI, Omnia and Yara whereby the price of

fertilizers was fixed and maintained at certain levels. We referred this

complaint to the Competition Tribunal for anti-competitive conduct.

The matter is currently before the Tribunal and a hearing is likely to be

held in the next financial year. 

Motor Vehicle Cases 

Seven consent agreements involving manufacturers / importers of new

motor vehicles and some of their dealers were referred to the Tribunal

for confirmation. In all seven cases the Tribunal confirmed the

agreements as consent orders. The matters broadly involved two types

of contraventions namely:
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a. Restrictive vertical practices

Complaints were made against the following SA companies: General

Motors, Daimler Chrysler, Nissan, Volkswagen and Citroën. They were

accused of allegedly limiting the discounting ability of the various

dealership bodies and / or prescribing minimum resale prices for their

vehicles. In a nutshell, these manufacturers limited the discounts that

the dealers could give their customers, thus limiting price competition

between the dealers. We found that this conduct amounted to

minimum resale price maintenance in contravention of the Act. 

We also investigated the various franchise / dealership agreements

between the manufacturers / importers and the dealers. These

agreements contained a number of restrictive clauses such as

imposing a ban on ‘out of area sales’, on ‘on-selling’, on exporting as

well as on advertising. We found that these agreements constituted

restrictive vertical practices and were in contravention of the Act as

well.  

We entered into consent agreements with five of the implicated firms.

They each agreed to pay administrative penalties ranging from

R150 000 to R12-million. The firms also agreed to implement

compliance programmes which would, in some instances, include a

review of the relevant franchise and / or dealership agreements.

b. Restrictive horizontal practices

Complaints were also lodged against the South African dealership

bodies of Subaru, Volkswagen and BMW and stemmed from

allegations that they fixed the selling prices of their vehicles. We found

that the dealers, and more specifically the respective dealer councils,

were involved in the fixing of prices and / or trading conditions in

contravention of the Act. The Subaru and BMW dealers agreed to pay

administrative penalties of R500 000 and R8-million respectively. The

penalties levied against Volkswagen’s Gauteng dealers were included

in the consent agreement that Volkswagen signed. 
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2.2 EXEMPTION APPLICATIONS

For the period under review, we granted one exemption:

The applicant, Scriptnet, a network of pharmacists, agreed to be

bound by and to adhere to the prices, terms and conditions of

agreements negotiated and entered into on their behalf with the

medical schemes through Scriptpharm. They applied for an exemption

from the provisions of Chapter 2 of the Act (Prohibited Practices) in

respect of all agreements negotiated with the medical schemes on their

behalf. Scriptnet submitted that the agreements were necessary to

enable SMMEs and firms owned or controlled by HDIs to become

competitive.

.

We found that the nature and purpose of the Scriptpharm / Scriptnet

structure is that of a managed care arrangement with all the associated

pro-competitive benefits. We were however concerned that the

structure of Scriptpharm and its contractual arrangement with

Scriptnet might encourage cartelisation, in that Scriptpharm could act

as a conduit for the members of Scriptnet to co-ordinate trading

conditions and the fixing of prices.

We granted the exemption application on the basis that this

arrangement will enable SMMEs and HDI owned and controlled firms

to be competitive, subject to conditions addressing our concerns

regarding possible cartelisation.
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2.3 MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS 

Merger regulation is directed at preventing the creation of anti-

competitive structures in the economy and is one of the pillars of our

competition policy. This activity accounts for about 30% of our

resources. 

We are required to determine whether a merger will lead to a

substantial lessening or prevention of competition, and we are also

required to balance this with public interest issues. Such issues include

the effect the merger might have on the employment and participation in

the economy of historically disadvantaged South Africans and SMMEs. 

As yet we have not prohibited or recommended the prohibition of a

merger based solely on public interest grounds.  We have, however,

approved or recommended the approval of a number of mergers

subject to conditions that alleviate the negative impact on the public

interest. These conditions include, amongst others, moratoria on

retrenchments for a specific period of time and obligations on merging

parties to re-train employees affected by the merger transaction.

.

During the year under review, we received 408 merger notifications: 97

were large mergers, 300 intermediate and 11 small. This is an increase

of 31% from the previous year and is consistent with international

trends. The increased merger activity can be attributed mainly to a

positive economic environment stimulating company growth and

expansion. Despite this significant increase the average turnaround in

finalising all merger cases remains approximately 30 days. 

Large merger notifications increased by 35%, intermediate mergers by

29% and small mergers by 83%. Bearing in mind that small merger

notifications are largely voluntary, the increase in their notifications is an

indication that business is becoming increasingly aware of merger

review and there is an increased willingness to comply with the Act.

Of the 408 notifications we received, eight were withdrawn or it was

found that we had no jurisdiction. We finalised 394 merger cases

during the year under review. 
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Figure 3: Case statistics 2005/06 

Large Intermediate Small Total

Cases notified 97 300 11 408

Cases finalised 101 284 9 394

Withdrawn/ no jurisdiction 2 5 1 8

Approved without conditions 91 277 8 376

Approved with conditions 7 7 0 14

Prohibited 3 0 1 4

Figure 4: Interventions in mergers and acquisitions 

Case Category of merger Effect of merger Intervention Outcome

Eyethu Registrars / Ultra
Registrars

Small Anti-competitive effect Prohibition The parties initially indicated
that they would take the
transaction to the Tribunal
for reconsideration: the
merger and procedures
were abandoned

Reatile Mining / Mondi
Imbani

Intermediate Negative effect on
employment

Condition to address
employment concerns:
moratoria on retrenchments
and re-training of affected
employees.

Accepted by parties

4284488 Canada Inc / Creo

Incorporated

Intermediate Possible negative effect on
employment

Condition to address
employment concerns:
moratoria on retrenchments

Accepted by parties

Intelsat Holdings /
PanAmSat Holding
Corporation

Intermediate Anti-competitive effects Behavioural conditions: price
increases capped at
inflationary adjustments

Accepted by parties

Natal Portland Cement /
National Asphalt

Intermediate Anti-competitive effects Behavioural conditions
ensuring equal access to
product for customers

Accepted by parties

Lufthansa / Swiss Air Intermediate Anti-competitive effects Structural conditions
ensuring that new entries are
possible

Accepted by parties

Novartis Deutschland GmbH
/ Hexal AG

Intermediate Anti-competitive effects Structural condition:
divestiture of assets 

Accepted by parties



Case Category of merger Effect of merger Intervention Outcome

Dormac / Globe Engineering Intermediate Anti-competitive effects Structural condition:
divestiture of assets

Parties abandoned the
merger

Tiger Brands / the Canning
Business of Ashton Canning
Company

Large Effect on employment Recommended a condition
to the Tribunal limiting the
number of seasonal workers
not employed and the
creation of a training fund

Tribunal approved the
transaction subject to similar
conditions, but limited the
use of the training fund to
the affected seasonal
workers only

Lonmin / Southern Platinum Large Effect on employment Condition to address
employment concerns:
moratoria on retrenchments
and re-training of affected
employees

Accepted by parties

Sasol Limited, Sasol Oil /
Engen Petronas International
Corporation

Large Anti-competitive effects We initially recommended the
approval of the transaction
subject to behavioural
conditions crafted to ensure
supply to rivals, but ultimately
argued for a prohibition

The Tribunal prohibited the
merger

Chemical Services /
Chemiphos

Large Anti-competitive effects Recommended a behavioural
condition to the Tribunal to
ensure access to product at
reasonable prices

Behavioural condition
imposed by the Tribunal

Media 24 / Lexshell Large Anti-competitive effects Recommended a structural
condition to Tribunal

Accepted by parties
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Main Street / National Cereal
Holdings

Large Anti-competitive effects Structural condition
recommended: divestiture of
assets

Matter pending

AP Moller-Maersk / Royal
P&O Nedlloyd NV

Large Anti-competitive effects Structural condition
recommended: divestiture of
PONL’s assets, rights and
obligations

Tribunal imposed structural
conditions

Foskor / Sasol’s Phosphoric
Acid Business 

Large Anti-competitive effects Recommended a prohibition
to the Tribunal

Merger subsequently
abandoned

Medicross / Primecure Large Anti-competitive effects Recommended a prohibition
to the Tribunal

The Tribunal prohibited the
transaction: the decision
was overturned on appeal to
the Competition Appeal
Court



Figure 5: Mergers and Acquisitions 2005/06, 2004/05, 2003/04, and 2002/03

2005/06 2004/05 2003/04 2002/03

Total number of cases notified 408 311 284 211

Large 97 72 65 68

Intermediate 300 233 213 138

Small 11 6 6 5

Total number of cases finalised 394 301 278 202

Large 101 65 59 68

Intermediate 284 229 214 129

Small 9 7 5 5

Total number of cases prohibited 4 4 1 1

Large 3 0 1 1

Intermediate 0 3 0 0

Small 1 1 0 0

Total number of cases withdrawn / no jurisdiction 8 3 8 7

Large 2 0 3 6

Intermediate 5 2 5 0

Small 1 1 0 1

Total number of cases unconditionally approved 376 285 262 194

Large 91 58 53 62

Intermediate 277 222 205 128

Small 8 5 4 4

Total number of cases conditionally approved 14 9 7 5

Large 7 7 2 2

Intermediate 7 2 4 2

Small 0 0 1 1

Figure 6: Finalised Mergers by Type

Type of Merger Total %

Horizontal 214 54.32

Vertical 42 10.66

Conglomerate 103 26.14

Management Buy-out 35 8.88

394 100.0
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Sector Total %

Mining 21 5.33

Construction 6 1.52

Financial Service 52 13.20

Information Technology 9 2.28

Transport 16 4.06

Manufacturing 96 24.37

Food and Beverages 17 4.32

Textiles and Clothing 5 1.27

Printing and Publishing 6 1.52

Chemicals 16 4.06

Metal Products 9 2.28

Equipment and Machinery 10 2.54

Electrical Products 5 1.27

Transport Equipment 10 2.54

Other Manufacturing 18 4.57

Telecommunications 19 4.82

Real Estate 61 15.48

Wholesale 35 8.88

Retail 20 5.08

Agriculture 4 1.02

Electrical 3 0.76

Renting of Machinery 1 0.25

Hotels & Restaurants 8 2.03

Motor Vehicles 20 5.08

Services 15 3.81

Other 8 2.03

394 100.0

Some quick facts about mergers finalised during the year under review:

• Nearly a quarter of all merger activity occurred in the

manufacturing sector – consistent with previous years.

• Mergers in the financial services sector increased from 7.4%

(2004/05) to 13.2% (2005/06).

• Mergers in the mining and construction sectors increased from

3.7% (2004/05) to 6.8% (2005/06).

• Mergers in the services sector decreased from 12.7% (2004/05)

to 3.8% (2005/06).

• Of the total number of mergers finalised, 64 were considered

favourably on public interest grounds as the mergers enabled

firms owned by HDIs to become competitive.

- This number increased by 31% from 49 in 2004/05.

- The percentage of empowerment transactions finalised over the

two periods (2004/05 and 2005/06) remained constant at 16%.

In the year under review we unconditionally approved (or

recommended the unconditional approval of) 95 % of the cases

finalised. 

Figure 7: Finalised Mergers by all Sectors
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We prohibited one small merger between Eyethu Registrars and Ultra

Registrars.

We recommended the prohibition of three large mergers to the Tribunal

namely: 

• Massmart Holdings / Moresport

• Medicross / Primecure

• Foskor / the Phosphoric Acid Business of Sasol 

We conditionally approved seven intermediate mergers:

• In two cases, Reatile Mining / Mondi Imbani and 4284488 Canada

Incorporated / Creo Incorporated, we imposed conditions to

lessen the effect the merger would have on employment.

• Behavioural conditions were imposed to alleviate anti-competitive

effects in the following two mergers:

- Intelsat Holdings / PanAmSat Holding Corporation

- Natal Portland Cement Company / National Ashphalt &

Sterkspruit Aggregates

These conditions were imposed for limited periods of time. Our

investigations revealed that the competition concerns arising

from the mergers would be temporary as new players were

poised to enter the business arena or the markets’ structure was

likely to adjust within the foreseeable future. 

• Structural conditions were imposed in three intermediate mergers:

- Lufthansa / Swiss Air

- Novartis / Hexal

- Dormac / Globe Engineering 

Structural conditions restructure a market to competitive levels.

Where we find that a transaction has anti-competitive effects we

prefer to impose or recommend the imposition of such conditions

to correct the situation.

We recommended the conditional approval of seven large mergers to

the Tribunal.

• We recommended conditions to ease the effect on employment

for the following mergers:

- Lonmin / Southern Platinum

- Tiger Brands / Ashton Canning 

• We recommended behavioural conditions for the following

mergers:

- Chemical Services / Chemiphos

- Sasol / Engen (in this case we ultimately argued for a prohibition)

• We recommended structural conditions to address the anti-

competitive effects of these mergers:

- Media 24 Ltd / Lexshell

- AP Moller Maersk / P&O Nedloyd

- Main Street / National Cereal Holdings

2.3.1 SIGNIFICANT MERGER CASES

Sasol Limited, Sasol Oil (Pty) Ltd (Sasol) / Engen Limited

Petronas International Corporation Limited (Engen) 

Before we discuss this merger it is important to look back on the

industry’s history, as well as to note some of the more interesting facets

of the fuel industry. This will give the correct perspective to

understanding the ramifications of the proposed merger.

Historically, South Africa’s petroleum industry developed in response to

sanctions. The then apartheid government invested in initiatives to find

alternative sources of fuel supply and Sasol was established. Then a

state operation, Sasol manufactured fuel using mainly low-grade coal;

today it is a privately owned company at the cutting edge of coal-to-

fuel technology. SA’s fuel manufacturers other than Sasol and the

state-owned PetroSA Ltd (PetroSA) import crude oil which is refined in

Durban and Cape Town. Natref, a joint venture between Sasol and

Total, produces oil from crude oil in Sasolburg. Owing, in part, to the

high price of crude oil, the oil refineries are high cost producers, while

Sasol’s Secunda coal-to-fuel refinery is the lowest cost producer. The

PetroSA fuel production plant in Mosselbay uses gas as its main input

18



and is based on the coast while both Sasol’s refineries are strategically

based inland.

With the exception of PetroSA, all the major oil companies operating in

South Africa are vertically integrated. Up until 2003, Sasol was not

allowed to have a retail network of service stations. Its retail presence

was limited to the blue pumps in the forecourts of other oil companies

and unbranded stations in the country’s inland regions. As part of this

arrangement, other oil companies (OOC’s) were required to take up

Sasol’s production. However, in 2003 the Main Supply Agreement

(MSA) was terminated and since then Sasol has been engaged in a

service station growth strategy, both through organic growth and

acquisitions.

The retail price of petrol is regulated, while the diesel price is regulated

at wholesale level. The prices are capped by reference to the Basic

Fuel Price (BFP), an import parity equivalent. Government has

committed itself to a process of ‘managed deregulation’ of the industry,

although it is not clear when such a process will be completed and

whether it will go as far as introducing price competition into the

market.

The merging parties entered into an agreement to form a joint venture

to be called Uhambo. The merger would have consolidated the white

fuels produced by Sasol Synfuels at Secunda; Sasol’s 63.64% share of

the Natref refinery in Sasolburg; Enref, Engen’s refinery in Durban, as

well as all service stations controlled by Sasol and Engen. If approved

by the competition authorities this merger would have created the

single largest manufacturer and marketer of fuel in South Africa.

The greatest demand for fuel is inland. Our investigation revealed that

there are significant logistical constraints in moving white fuels inland

from the coastal refineries as none of the three major modes of

transport namely pipeline, road and rail can provide sufficient transport

capacity. Petronet, the pipeline operating company, intends to replace

the existing pipeline with a bigger pipeline, which will have the capacity

needed to transport white fuels inland - but it will only be

commissioned in 2010. In view of these constraints, we concluded that

there were separate coastal and inland markets for the production of

white fuel products and although Sasol was found to be dominant

inland, there is no geographic overlap in the parties’ refining activities. 

From a vertical perspective we found that the merger was likely to

substantially lessen or prevent competition because of the likelihood

that Uhambo would foreclose on the OOC’s. This could be done by

either refusing to supply them or by raising their costs in the inland

market. The reason for this finding was that the merger would, in many

ways, significantly reduce the interdependency between the oil

companies. For example, in the inland market, Sasol is long on

production but short on retail; while Engen is short on production and

long on retail.  Post merger, Uhambo would have access to Sasol’s

large production capacity and Engen’s large retail network. This would

make Uhambo less dependent on the OOC’s to dispose of its white

fuel products. The Commission initially recommended an approval of

the merger subject to behavioural conditions. These conditions were

intended to ensure that Uhambo would supply petroleum products to

the OOC’s until a pipeline capable of transporting their shortfall

volumes to the inland market on reasonable terms came into

operation.

During the hearing, evidence came to light that made it apparent to us

that the horizontal effects of the proposed merger would be likely to

substantially prevent or lessen competition. Uhambo would be

dominant in the logistically restrained inland market as well as in the

logistically unrestrained national market. If the market were then

deregulated, Uhambo could use its market power to increase prices to

both OOC’s and at the pump. In view of the cumulative effects both

horizontally and vertically, we argued for the prohibition of the merger. 

The Tribunal ruled that the merger would lead to the substantial

lessening or prevention of competition  because of Uhambo’s ability to

foreclose its rivals. The Tribunal concluded that it was likely that

Uhambo’s strategy would not take the form of an all-out foreclosure,

provided the OOC’s accepted the merged entity’s price aspirations.
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The credibility of the foreclosure threat will ensure that Uhambo gets

this outcome. The Tribunal concluded that the proposed merger would

lead to the demise of the promised era of competition in a post MSA,

deregulated market. It would, they said, effectively lead to the

recartelisation of the market, moving from the premise that the MSA

era was that of a state sanctioned cartel, except that this time it would

be under Uhambo’s leadership.  

The Tribunal also found that there were no public interest issues or

efficiencies that outweighed the competition concerns arising from this

case and, accordingly, prohibited the merger.

AP Moller-Maersk (Maersk) / Royal P&O Nedlloyd N V (PONL) 

We recommended conditional approval to the Tribunal of this large

international merger. 

The merging parties are both involved in the containerised shipping

services market and in respect of five trade routes would have had

combined market shares in excess of 35%. The shipping services

market links South Africa directly to its main import and export

markets. We found that competitiveness in this area is essential in

ensuring South Africa’s competitive trading position.

We considered the possibility of new entrants into the market and

found that barriers to entry were quite high: due in part to existing

agreements on industry trading conditions and in part to the high costs

involved in entering the market. However, despite the high entry

barriers, there have been new entrants in the SA / Middle East and SA

/ Far East trade routes. There have been no new entrants in the SA /

Europe trade route due to constraints in our ports which are relatively

small and shallow and cannot accommodate certain large vessels.

Slots are readily available in the SA / North America trade route and the

discontinuation of an agreement has enhanced competition in SA.

We therefore concluded that, with the exception of the SA / Europe

route where there are few suppliers, the proposed transaction was

unlikely to substantially prevent or lessen competition on any of the

trade routes.

We recommended to the Tribunal that the proposed merger be

approved subject to conditions. These conditions would ensure that

competition in the market would remain, as the market structure would

be corrected and the likely effect of the merger on producers and

consumers would be neutralised. These conditions required the

divestiture of PONL’s assets as well as all rights and obligations to its

shipping liner activities on the SA / Europe and SA / North America

routes. 

The Tribunal conditionally approved the matter, as did the European

Commission.
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Intelsat Holding Ltd (Intelsat) / PanAmSat Holding Corporation

(PanAmSat)

We approved the intermediate merger between these two multi-

national companies subject to conditions. 

Both companies provide communications services via fixed satellite

transponders by leasing this capacity to customers in South Africa and

sub-Saharan Africa. These customers include telecommunications,

media and entertainment companies as well as corporations and

governments.

Intelsat operates 15 satellites and PanAmSat operates six satellites

covering sub-Saharan Africa. Intelsat’s biggest SA customer is Telkom

while Multichoice is PanAmSat’s biggest SA customer. The transaction

would result in the merged entity having an estimated 65% of the

market share for the sale of satellite transponder capacity in Sub-

Saharan Africa.

We found that the transaction was likely to substantially prevent or

lessen competition in an already concentrated market. However, within

the next two years, four new satellites with significant capacity will be

launched by the companies New Skies, Rascom, SES Astra and

MEASAT and this will, in due course, constrain the market power of the

merged entity. 

Existing and new entrants will allow transponder capacity customers to

switch between satellite operators and this will further constrain the

ability of the merged entity to unilaterally raise its prices.

We therefore approved the merger subject to a single condition: for a

period of two years, Intelsat and PanAmSat customers billed in South

Africa may not be subjected to a price increase except for an inflation-

related adjustment on 1 March 2007. This condition addresses the

concern that in the two years before the new satellites are launched, the

merged entity could have been in a position to increase prices to its

customers to the detriment of the economic efficiency of the country.

Novartis Deutschland GmbH (Novartis) / Hexal AG (Hexal) 

We conditionally approved this intermediate merger. 

Both Novartis and Hexal are involved in the distribution of various

pharmaceutical products. We used the third level of Anatomical

Therapeutic Chemical Classification (ATC3) in defining their relevant

markets. We identified 33 ATC3 categories in which overlaps arose.

Only in nine of the 33 overlapping markets did the parties have a

combined market share of more than 15%.

However, in the RO3C Non Steroidal Respiratory Anti-Inflammatories

market (asthma medication), the transaction would likely substantially

prevent or lessen competition to the detriment of consumers, as the

consolidation would have resulted in the reduction of market players

from three to two. No other substitute products exist to pose a

competitive constraint on the pricing and market behaviour of the

merged entity.
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We found that the market’s structure would most likely lead to higher

prices and less choice for consumers. To address these concerns and

to reinstate the competitive dynamic that prevailed before the merger,

we approved the merger subject to the divestiture of Hexal’s RO3C

Non Steroidal Respiratory Anti-Inflammatory product to an

independent third party - Aurobindo Pharma. 

Tiger Brands Limited (Tiger) / the Canning Business of Ashton

Canning Company (Pty) Ltd (Ashton)

We recommended the conditional approval of the large merger

between Tiger and Ashton. 

We concluded that the transaction would have a significantly negative

effect on the public interest as it would result in the retrenchment of

about 45 permanent employees and approximately 1 000 less

seasonal workers would be contracted by the merged entity. Both

companies operate within the Ashton area that is dependent on the

canning industry for employment and as such the community’s survival

depends on the opportunities offered by both parties. 

We found that the merger did not raise competition concerns and

therefore recommended approval to the Tribunal. In addition, we

recommended that the merging parties set up a R2-million training

fund. The training would be for the unemployed Ashton community at

large as well as both firms’ seasonal workers who had been contracted

in the immediately preceding high season, but who had, as a result of

the merger, not been contracted by the merged entity in either of the

two high season periods immediately following the merger.

In order to alleviate or limit the negative effects the merger would have

on employment and on the Ashton community as a whole, the Tribunal

approved the merger subject to similar conditions, but limited the

availability of the training fund to those employees and seasonal

workers directly affected by the merger.

Eyethu Registrars (Pty) Ltd (Eyethu) / Ultra Registrars (Pty) Ltd (Ultra) 

We prohibited the small merger between Eyethu (a subsidiary of

STRATE) and Ultra. Eyethu intended to acquire Ultra’s entire business

undertaking, which would comprise Ultra’s transfer secretarial services. 

Licensed by the FSB, STRATE is a self-regulatory organisation and is

currently the only CSD in South Africa. Using its regulatory authority,

STRATE can rightfully gain access to information from CSD

Participants. Furthermore STRATE holds, and has access to, important

shareholder information used by transfer secretaries in their ordinary

course of business. 

We realised that STRATE and Ultra would stand in a vertical

relationship in that STRATE controls shareholder information used by

Ultra in compiling complete share registers for issuers. The only other

competitor to Ultra is Computershare, a CSD participant regulated by

STRATE. 
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In this instance, STRATE was the only entity that had access to and

could supply transfer secretaries with information essential to their

business operations. It is unlikely that a new or second CSD will enter

the market in which STRATE operates. 

We considered:

• Various aspects that influenced the markets in which the parties

were active

• The market dynamics of the securities industry

• The structure of STRATE

If approved, the merger would create structural links between STRATE

and Ultra that would lead to the following competition concerns:

• Computershare is both a CSDP and a transfer secretary and

STRATE could use its regulation of Computershare to obtain

access to its proprietary information.

• STRATE could discriminate between Computershare and Ultra by

regulating the type of shareholder information it supplied to them

as well as the intervals at which this information would be

provided.

We found that in the highly concentrated transfer secretarial market,

where Ultra is an effective contender, this transaction would lead to a

substantial prevention or lessening of competition. 

We considered various remedies that might restore or maintain

competition while permitting the realisation of relevant merger specific

efficiencies, but, as the parties compete in a complex and dynamic

industry that develops in unpredictable ways, we could find no

practical and effective remedies to the competitive detriments of the

merger. 

STRATE has a structural advantage above any other relevant market

provider and could therefore eliminate its competitors, even if it were

not the most efficient supplier. STRATE’s subsequent monopolisation

could lead to higher prices, limited consumer choice and decreased

market innovation. No significant public interest issues arose from the

proposed transaction and we concluded that any efficiencies that

might have resulted were unlikely to outweigh the anti-competitive

effects. 

Foskor Limited (Foskor) / Sasol’s Phosphoric Acid Business

(SPAB) 

We recommended the prohibition of this large merger. 

Both Foskor and SPAB manufacture and sell phosphoric acid, but

Foskor is also the sole producer of phosphoric rock in South Africa and

actively manufactures and sells granular fertilisers.

Phosphoric acid is an important intermediate product in the SA

economy because it is an essential ingredient in the production of

fertiliser and animal feed, and because of its particular use by chemical

industries in the manufacture of detergents. Through this merger

Foskor, SA’s largest phosphoric acid producer, wanted to acquire SA’s

second largest phosphoric acid producer. We found that competition

between Foskor and SPAB had a disciplinary effect on market prices.

Post-merger, the merged entity would hold a quasi-monopoly in the

phosphoric acid market and would have both the incentive and the

ability to raise prices and / or restrict output.

Furthermore, we found that the merger would create a vertically

integrated entity that would be the market’s sole supplier of phosphate

rock. This merged entity could refuse to supply competitors and / or

raise their costs. In the long term this would strangle competition and

result in Foskor’s market dominance and could lead to higher prices.

The parties tried to rely on the ‘failing firm’ argument but failed to prove

critical elements of this defence.

We concluded that the proposed transaction would substantially prevent

or lessen competition and recommended that the Tribunal should

prohibit the proposed transaction on competition as well as public

interest grounds. The parties subsequently abandoned the merger.
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Massmart Holdings Limited (Massmart) / Moresport (Pty) Ltd

(Moresport) 

Massmart and Moresport are both retailers of a wide range of sporting

and outdoor goods. Massmart operates through Makro, Game and

Dion stores, while Moresport operates through Sportsman’s

Warehouse, Outdoor Warehouse and Sport Shoe World branded

stores. 

We recommended the prohibition of this merger because both parties

are large players in the general sports equipment retail market and

would hold in excess of 80% of this market post-merger. We also

found that the merged entity would be a significant player in the

outdoor equipment market.

Barriers to entry into these markets are relatively high and consumers

have no alternative to turn to when facing increased prices. We found

that Moresport is an effective market competitor and as such the

merger would remove this competition and increase concentration

levels in these already highly concentrated markets.

We concluded that, in particular, the proposed merger was likely to

substantially prevent or lessen competition in the retail market of

general sporting equipment through national chains. Post-merger,

consumers would have a limited choice in suppliers and would

probably face increased prices. The Tribunal prohibited the merger.

2.3.2 Monitoring Non-notified Mergers

In monitoring the markets for non-notified mergers in the period under

review, we followed up on 22 transactions and were subsequently

notified of the following four: 

• Shoprite / Foodworld

• Hosken Consolidated Investments Limited / Johnnic

• Glenrand MIB  / Tradeworx 

• Hoskins Consolidated Investments / YFM (Pty) Ltd

Of the remaining matters that we investigated:

• Six were small mergers and therefore parties were not obliged to

notify

• Six were not mergers as per definition in the Act

• Six are still pending investigations
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2.4 LEGAL MATTERS

We have a dedicated division of in-house lawyers as much of our work

involves participating in cases before the Tribunal and courts.  

During the year under review:

• The following restricted practice cases, referred to the Tribunal for

determination in previous years, were dealt with as contested

proceedings: 

Competition Commission vs American Natural Soda Ash Corporation

and Another

/ Dr S M Pillay vs Uitenhage and Despatch

Independent Practitioners Association

/ Japan Tobacco International South Africa vs

British American Tobacco SA

vs Seven Eleven Corporation

vs SAA (Nationwide complaint)

vs Italtile Franchising and Others

vs Telkom SA

vs SAA (Comair complaint)

.

Competition Commission vs Consol and Nampak

vs Netstar and Others

vs Assa Abloy and Others

vs SAA, SA Airlink and SA Express Airways 

• The case between the Competition Commission and Sasol

Chemical Industries and Others, was referred as contested

proceedings.

• The following enforcement cases were resolved by consent order

proceedings: 

Competition Commission vs Italtile Franchising and Others

vs USA Citrus Alliance

vs Boundless Trade 154 trading as Citroen

SA

vs DaimlerChrysler South Africa

vs General Motors South Africa

vs Nissan South Africa

vs Subaru dealers

vs Volkswagen South Africa and Volkswagen

Dealers
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• Enforcement cases generated administrative penalties totalling

R86 million.

• Our in-house lawyers participated in the following 23 

merger cases out of the 101 cases referred to the Tribunal:

� Chemical Services / Chemiphos SA

� Harmony Gold Mining / Goldfields

� Sasol Oil / Engen

� Bonheur 50 General Trading / Komatiland Forests 

� Medicross Healthcare Group / Prime Cure Holdings 

� Media 24,Lexshell 496 Investments / The Natal Witness Printing

and Publishing Company

� Tiger Brands / Ashton Canning

� Johnnic Holdings / Hosken Consolidated Investments               

� Murray & Roberts / Oconbrick Manufacturing 

� Hyprop / SA Retail Properties

� Shoprite Checkers / Foodworld Group Investment Holdings

� Imperial Group / Magic Merkel Motors 

� Merafe Ferrochrome & Mining / Xstrata SA 

� Theta Investments / Teba Credit 

� Cream Magenta 150 / Microaccess

� Massmart / Moresport 

� A P Moller-Maersk / Royal P & O Nedlloyd N V

� Apexhi Properties / Prima Property Trust 

� Mercanto / Johnnic

� Barrick Gold Corporation / Placer Dome Incorporated

� Main Street (301) / National Cereal Holdings 

� Barloworld Coatings / Prostart Investments 

� Foskor / Sasol Chemical Industries

• The following non-notified mergers referred to the Tribunal were

resolved by consent orders:

Competition Commission vs Arvinmeritor Emmissions GmbH

vs Oracle Corporation SA

vs Edward Snell & Co and African Wines &

Spirits 

• The combined total of administrative penalties generated by non-

notified cases was R575 000.

• We participated in the following cases before the Competition

Appeal Court (CAC):

� Omnia Fertilizer vs Competition Commission and Others

� Sasol Chemical Industries vs Competition Commission and

Others 

� Medicross Healthcare Group vs Prime Cure Holdings 

� South African Airways (Nationwide complaint) vs Competition

Commission

• We participated in the following review cases before the High Court:

� Seatex Investments vs Competition Commission and and

Another

� Telkom SA vs Competition Commission

2.4.1 PRECEDENT SETTING CASES 

The Commission participated in most, but not all precedent setting

cases.

Competition Commission vs South African Airways (Pty) Ltd 

In this abuse of dominance case in the domestic airline travel market,

SAA stood accused of paying incremental incentives to travel agents.

This had the effect of inducing these travel agents to sell more SAA

tickets than those of its competitors.

We made submissions at the Tribunal that this conduct led to:

• consumers flying on more expensive tickets

• the perpetuation of SAA’s existing dominance in this market

• the restriction of new entries into the market

• the inhibition of existing rivals from expanding in the market

In contesting the matter, SAA disputed, amongst other things, that the

schemes were exclusionary or anti-competitive.  SAA further argued in the
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alternative that, even if schemes were anti-competitive, any harm they

caused was outweighed by efficiencies obtained through the schemes.

In rejecting SAA’s arguments, the Tribunal found that unlike in the case

of section 8(c), conduct under section 8(d) was presumed to be

exclusionary.  If any of the conduct listed under section 8(d) (i-v) were

proved, this proved an exclusionary act and it was therefore

unnecessary to prove that the conduct "impedes or prevents a firm

from entering into, or expanding within, a market" in terms of the

definition of exclusionary conduct contained in the Act.

The Tribunal further considered the consequences flowing from an

exclusionary act and held that on its own, this is insufficient to conclude

that there is an anti-competitive effect; and that the anti-competitive

effect of the conduct must also be proved. Since, without some notion

of the anti-competitive effect it would be impossible to perform the

weighing of the efficiency justifications required by both section 8(c)

and section 8(d).

It concluded further that while harm to competition could not be

inferred simply by finding that the conduct was exclusionary, there was

clear authority for the approach that a finding of actual competitive

harm was not required; and that in the absence of evidence of harm to

consumer welfare, it was sufficient if the exclusionary practice was

substantial / significant or had the potential to foreclose the market to

competition.  

Competition Commission and Others vs. Omnia Fertiliser

Limited (Omnia) & Sasol Chemical Industries Limited (SCI) 

This case concerned the review applications before the CAC brought

by SCI and Omnia against the Commission (and other interested

parties) after Nutri-Flo submitted a second complaint against SCI

alleging anti-competitive practices in the fertiliser market.  

When Nutri-Flo submitted the first complaint against SCI to us, we

found that there was insufficient evidence and we did not refer this

complaint to the Tribunal. Nutri-Flo subsequently submitted a second

complaint against SCI to us, but also included Omnia and Kynoch

Fertilizer as respondents. During the investigation of the second

complaint we twice extended (with the consent of the complainant) the

prescribed investigation period. 

In their applications, which were heard together, the applicants argued

that notwithstanding the consent of the complainant, we were not

entitled to extend the investigation period of a complaint more than

once. They also asserted that we were not entitled to refer the second

complaint because it dealt with substantially the same complaint in

respect of which we had issued a notice of non-referral. The applicant

submitted that as a consequence of the above, the referral was ultra

vires and unconstitutional, since on the first grounds it was out of time,

and, on the second ground, it was a nullity or nullified.
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Multiple Extensions

We submitted that on a proper construction of section 50 of the Act

there was no rule that limited the number and period of any extensions

for an investigation, provided that the complainant agreed to the

extensions. The applicants, in turn, argued that section 50 refers to a

single ‘period’.  The court analysed section 50, as well as the Tribunal

decision in Sappi Fine Papers (Pty) Ltd vs The Competition Commission

and found that indeed, there was no limit to the number of times the

Commission could extend an investigation period, provided that this was

by agreement with the complainant and that the extensions were

obtained before the expiry of the period of an investigation.  

Second Referral

In examining this matter, the Court noted that the Commission decided

not to refer the first complaint because of insufficient evidence and that

in the investigation of the second complaint additional evidence was

obtained, and two more respondents were added.  It held that, if new

facts came to light, facts which were not previously known to the

Commission, it is bound to investigate the complaint in order to

properly fulfil its statutory function as the primary body responsible for

prosecution of any conduct, which is alleged to be prohibited by the

Act. The Court held that unless there is an ulterior motive, the

Commission will only be precluded from making the referral where the

Tribunal has previously determined the issue or where, after the issuing

of the certificate of non-referral, the complainant is prosecuting the

complaint.  The Court therefore held that the functus officio doctrine

was of limited application, if any, in cases of this nature.  

Sasol Oil (Pty) Ltd (Sasol Oil) vs. Nationwide Poles (Nationwide)

Nationwide, a small producer of treated wooden poles filed a complaint

against Sasol Oil in the Tribunal alleging an abuse of dominance by

engaging in prohibited price discrimination. The Commission was not 

party to these proceedings as it had earlier non-referred the case. The

Tribunal found in favour of Nationwide. The Tribunal declared that as a

dominant firm in the creosote market, Sasol Oil had sold creosote to its

customers at different prices and that, according to section 9(1) of the

Act, a prohibited practice had occurred. Sasol Oil appealed this

decision to the CAC.

The main dispute centered on the interpretation of section 9(1)(a). The

section provides that price discrimination by a dominant firm is

prohibited if it is likely to have the effect of substantially preventing or

lessening competition. The Tribunal had found that in enacting that

provision, the legislature intended to create a legal means by which

small enterprises in particular would have a remedy against conduct

that might exclude them from access to a market or limit their ability to

compete on the merits in that market. The Tribunal held that the

section does not require proof of some standard of harm to be

established – it was sufficient for the complainant to establish a

competitive relevance to its complaint. Hence, it found that when the

legislature asks "is it likely" it is asking the court to enquire as to

whether the complaint is relevant to the competition in the relevant

market and when it asks "is it substantial", it invites the court to

distinguish the trivial effect from the weighty or substantial.

The CAC therefore had to consider whether the test of competitive

relevance applied by the Tribunal was correct. The CAC considered

foreign jurisprudence, in particular the United States’ Robinson Patman

Act and the US Supreme Court decision in FTC vs. Morton Salt

Company. The CAC agreed with the Tribunal as to the policy

imperatives of the legislature on the prohibition of price discrimination.

However and more importantly, it found that the legislative purpose

supports an interpretation which prevents the erosion of the

competitive structure of the market. It agreed that the section does not

require proof of actual harm to consumer welfare, however, it requires

proof of a reasonable possibility that price discrimination will have a

substantial effect on competition in the relevant market. The CAC held

that the determination of a reasonable possibility that Sasol Oil pricing

structure was likely to affect competition in the downstream market in

which Nationwide competed could not rest on the inherent
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discrimination of the structure itself. It held that evidence

demonstrating that it was capable of having or likely to have an anti-

competitive effect on such competition was necessary. 

The CAC found that the evidence led in this regard was insufficient to

support a finding that there is a reasonable possibility that competition

has been lessened or prevented. It was held that to find in favour of

Nationwide in these circumstances would result in the court protecting

a competitor and not the process of competition. The CAC took the

view that for price discrimination to be unlawful, some proof of harm to

competition must be established, and rejected the Tribunal’s

competitive relevance approach. Sasol’s appeal was accordingly

upheld.

Momentum Group Ltd (Momentum) vs. African life Health (ALH)

In this case, the Competition Appeal Court (CAC) determined the treatment

of existing cross-directorships between firms on merger decisions. 

In this merger:

• Momentum acquired the entire share capital of African Life Health

(ALH)

• Momentum is a wholly owned subsidiary of FirstRand

• FirstRand also holds 65,6% of Discovery Holdings (Discovery)

• Momentum and Discovery therefore have common non-executive

directors on their boards (common directorships) as members of

the FirstRand group. 

The Commission assessed the merger on the basis that Momentum

and Discovery belonged to a single economic entity and combined

Momentum's and Discovery's market share (31,2%), and ALH’s

(3,3%). The Commission however recommended the unconditional

approval of the merger after finding that the revenue generated from

Discovery’s own medical aid scheme should be excluded from the

contestable market and that the combined market share in the medical

aid administration was therefore only 12.77%.

The Tribunal rejected the Commission’s reasoning and held that since

medical aid administrators compete for beneficiaries, Discovery

Medical Aid’s members were part of the contestable market,

notwithstanding that the Discovery scheme itself was unlikely to defect

to another administrator. The Tribunal further found that there was

vigorous competition between Momentum and Discovery and that it

was important to maintain this rivalry post-merger given that there was

increasing consolidation in the medical aid administration market. The

Tribunal's concern was that post merger there might be an enhanced

incentive to co-ordination and that the common directorships both at

operating company level and at holding company level could lead to

the exchange of sensitive information at board level where a market

division strategy could conceivably be entertained between Discovery

and Momentum. The Tribunal approved the merger on condition that

the common directorships on the Discovery and Momentum boards

were eliminated. 

The CAC overturned this decision and ordered that the merger be

unconditionally approved on the basis that there was insufficient

evidence to support a conclusion that post merger there would be an

enhanced incentive to co-ordination.  It also found that there was no

initial determination of anti-competitive consequences which required a

conditional approval and that since the cross-directorships were

historical and unrelated to the merger the combination of the

Momentum and Discovery interests could not in itself be said to lead to

an inference of a future lessening of competition. 

Regarding the conditions the CAC held that the prohibition on cross-

directorships was both too widely framed and ineffectual as the

prohibition impacted on wider services than medical aid administration

services and the attendance of non-board directors at board meetings

was not restricted.  
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2.5 PROMOTING COMPLIANCE

We actively encourage voluntary compliance with the Act by:

• issuing non-binding advisory opinions and clarifications on the

correct interpretation of the Act

• explaining the approach the Commission is likely to take on

particular issues

• conducting workshops and presentations to stakeholders on

competition issues

• assisting firms in compiling their compliance programs

• advising stakeholders on how they could participate in the

processes and proceedings before the Commission and the

Tribunal

Clarifications can be written or verbal, while advisory opinions, which

are more comprehensive, must be written. In this report we only deal

with written clarifications and advisory opinions. We received a total of

47 requests for advisory opinions:

• 32 were on mergers and acquisitions

• 14 on prohibited practices

• one request related to both of the above

.

The average turnaround time on advisory opinions was 30 days. The

majority of advisory opinions were requested by law firms on behalf of

their clients. We have observed that as our competition legal system

matures, the opinions requested are getting fewer but more complex.

There were 114 more clarifications than advisory opinions requested:

42 clarifications were issued to SMMEs and BEE companies, while 72

were issued to big business. Most clarification requests related to the

following sectors:

• healthcare

• telecommunications

• insurance

• information technology 

• manufacturing

• importation

Issues that dominated these requests for clarification were those

concerning:

• entry into the market

• the conduct of particular big firms
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Figure 8: Requests for written advisory opinions over three years

2.6. POLICY RESEARCH AND ADVOCACY

In addition to our activities mentioned above, we also conduct

research, advocacy and influence policy.  

2.6.1 Research

During the year under review, research added significant value to our

investigative and decision-making processes. It also provided an

important reference point for other stakeholders when they looked into 

the operations of the market in particular sectors of the economy. Our

research takes the form of sector studies whereby economists from the

policy and research division delve into specifically identified sectors.

The following is a brief outline of this year’s important research reports.

.

Electricity

This study looked at the electricity sector and presented an overview of:

• the distribution and reticulation of electricity in South Africa

• the reform process aimed at introducing Regional Electricity

Distributors (REDs)

� With regard to the implementation of REDs, the following was

highlighted: 

- the possible negative impact of REDs on municipalities

- the challenge of implementing REDs while taking into

consideration the constitutional right of municipalities to

provide electricity

- the lack of clarity on the role of electricity re-sellers after

the implementation of the REDs

• prices or pricing

Our average turnaround time for clarifications was 11 days. 

During the year under review we received one request for assistance in

developing a compliance program. We also assisted trade unions in

participating in mergers where there were significant concerns (a report

on this function is found under the section on Stakeholder

Management).
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- the existing problems related to fragmented tariffs

- the deterioration of services

• the much welcomed attempt to introduce competition at the retail

level

• the lack of competition at the generation level which is likely to

frustrate retail level competition

.

.
Agricultural Co-operatives 

This report: 

• looked at the evolution of the co-op system both locally and

internationally

• investigated the control co-ops often have over key infrastructure

/ processes in the agri-business chain

• analysed co-op principles against the backdrop of our

competition policy

• found that many co-ops have been converted into private

companies which now in turn control the key infrastructures

previously controlled by co-ops

• emphasised that although co-ops play an important role in the

agricultural sector, care should be taken to ensure that their

conduct does not fall foul of the Act

Most importantly, a study into the maize market is being prepared at

the request of the Minister of Agriculture and our report will serve as

background material for this study.

National Payments System & Competition in the Banking Sector

In 2004, the Task Team of the National Treasury and SA Reserve Bank

released the Falkena Report (the Report on Competition in South

African Banking). This report indicated the need for a major research

study of the banking industry. In particular, the Falkena Report directed

us to investigate the possibility that the payments system is run by the

big banks as a complex monopoly. During the year under review

commissioned a study into the National Payment System and

Competition in the Banking Sector. This report will be used to evaluate

whether any interventions are necessary in this sector and we also plan

to conduct public hearings on this issue in 2006/07. 

2.6.2 Advocacy 

The main aim of advocacy is to create awareness about competition

law and to positively influence the formulation of SA’s policy and

legislation to promote consistency with competition policy. 

We focus intently on our key stakeholders and put a lot of effort into

creating awareness of, and promoting compliance with the Act. During

the year under review we made written contributions to the

Telecommunications Bill, the Electricity Regulation Bill and ICASA’s

discussion documents on ‘handset subsidies’ and ‘mobile phone

prices’.  The following is a brief summary of the submissions we made:

Electronic Communications Bill 

We submitted written comments on the Electronic Communications

Bill, followed by an oral presentation, to the Parliamentary Portfolio

Committee on Communications. In our submission, we welcomed the

bill insofar as it aims at, amongst other things:

• promoting competition, investment and innovation in the

communications sector

• facilitating the convergence of the telecommunications and

broadcasting signal distribution sectors

• backing the development of public, community and commercial

broadcasting services

As a model for regulating the communications sector, we strongly

recommended a move away from concurrent jurisdiction with ICASA.

This model has made it difficult to rein in the anti-competitive behaviour

of firms, particularly dominant ones in the telecommunications industry. 
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Electricity Regulation Bill

Our written comments on the Electricity Regulation Bill were submitted

to the Parliamentary Portfolio Committee on Minerals and Energy.

Some of the objectives of the bill include:

• establishing a National Regulatory Framework for the Electricity

Supply Industry (ESI)

• procuring electricity generating capacity from independent

power producers

• registering and licensing, amongst others, generators,

transmitters, distributors and traders in electricity

We highlighted that certain provisions of the Bill overlap with the

provisions of the Act. This perpetuates the existing, concurrent

jurisdiction with the National Energy Regulator. We pointed out that this

model of regulation has proven to be fraught with problems and should

be avoided. Another area of concern that we indicated, with particular

regard to tariff and service quality regulation, was that municipalities

involved in reticulating electricity seemed to be excluded from the

jurisdiction of the regulator. We proposed that government should,

through regulation, seize the opportunity to deal with issues such as

fragmented tariffs and the dilapidated state of infrastructure that so

bedevil the distribution sector.

ICASA Discussion Documents 

We contributed written comments and made written submissions on

two ICASA discussion documents. The first was the ‘discussion

document into handset subsidies’. The main purpose of this

discussion document, and the subsequent hearings, was to solicit

viewpoints from all interested stakeholders on how, if at all, handsets

subsidies should be regulated in the future. Our main recommendation

was that ICASA should compel the three mobile network operators to

offer, in addition to their present options, contracts at reduced call

charges without free handsets. In our view this would stimulate direct

competition on call charges. ICASA indicated that it would publish a

‘findings’ document and thereafter decide whether to regulate this

aspect of the service or not. 

Subsequent to that, ICASA published a second ‘discussion document

on mobile prices’. The main purpose of this discussion documents was

to stimulate debate on the subject of the perceived high

telecommunications prices in South Africa. Various research papers

have shown that telecommunications costs in South Africa are very

high relative to comparable countries. In our submission we noted with

concern the lack of effective competition in this sector, which, coupled

with high wholesale costs such as those of interconnecting with other

networks prevents competitive pricing. 
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Stakeholder Managementse  tion 3
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In the year under review, we maintained and strengthened our

relationships with our main stakeholders, namely business, competition

law practitioners, government, trade unions, and other regulators. 

3.1 Business

Most of our dealings with business are aimed at promoting compliance

with the Act. We maintain our business relations mainly through

industry, trade and professional associations and, where necessary,

through direct contact with firms.     

In the past year we held 89 meetings with 220 company

representatives and law firms on various issues. These issues mostly

related to the lodgement of complaints or queries establishing whether

or not the Act would apply to the parties’ proposed transactions,

agreements, practices, etc. Other meetings were mainly follow-ups on

advisory opinions we had issued and a few were merger pre-filing

meetings. We also made eight presentations and hosted workshops,

together reaching a total of 246 participants. 

We view our interaction with SMMEs as being very important especially

if we are to be effective in balancing the interests of all players in the

economy. We have a dedicated team of staff who work with SMMEs

on competition matters. 

3.2 Practitioners

Most of our advisory opinions are issued to law firms and as some of

our interactions with business are necessarily conducted through legal

practitioners, we maintain a close relationship with them. In the year

under review we hosted a breakfast meeting for Gauteng legal

practitioners attended by 59 lawyers. 

We maintain relations with economists active in competition law and

participate in the SA Competition Economics Forum. This forum brings

together about 40 economists and is aimed at promoting discussions

on the economics of industrial organisation and competition. 

3.3 Government 

We have had successful interactions with a number of government

departments on matters that would include comment on draft

legislation and policy, as they would impact on competition law. The list

of legislation on which we have commented is listed under our

advocacy work above. We are also a member of the COTII, an

information-sharing forum created by the DTI to ensure consistency in

policy-making and implementation.

3.4 Trade Unions

In the year under review we continued to build on our relationships with

the trade unions, focusing on the employment issues raised by

mergers. It is our desire that our activities promote an environment

conducive to enhancing employment opportunities. Trade unions are

empowered through the Act to participate in merger reviews and to this

end we empower them through presentations and workshops,

enabling them to actively participate in merger transactions.  In the year

under review we undertook road shows covering six provinces namely

the Western Cape, Gauteng, the North West, the Free State, KwaZulu

Natal and the Eastern Cape. These workshops set out to train union

leaders on competition law and to develop a code of practice between

trade unions, the legal practitioners and ourselves. Trade unions are

increasingly participating in mergers and are starting to develop the

capacity to engage merging parties and their legal practitioners on

substantive competition concerns. In a number of mergers, we

imposed conditions or recommended the imposition of conditions

addressing employment concerns.  
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Figure 9: Trade union participation in 2005/2006.

Figure 10: Sectoral overview of trade union participation

During the year under review, 35 % of union participation in mergers was in the manufacturing sector. This signifies the importance of this sector as

far as employment is concerned. 
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3.5 Other Regulators

As a regulator ourselves, we play an active role within the activities of

SARF by organising and chairing the Forum’s quarterly meetings;

producing and distributing the Forum’s newsletter; updating its website

and actively participating in the highlighting of regulatory issues. In

addition we have a number of memoranda of understanding with other

regulators aimed at managing working relations.

3.6 Communication

3.6.1 Media

The media are our main avenue of communication with the public. In

the year under review we had over 215 media contacts, hosted

briefings, issued 14 press releases and published five advertorials.

3.6.2 Publications 

During the year under review we published and circulated the following

publications to our stakeholders:

• 4 x 2500 Competition News - Competition Commission newsletter

• 4 x 2000 The Regulator - SARF’s newsletter

• 3000 graduate trainee flyers

• 3000 Competition Act pocket books

• 500 consumer flyers

• 500 labour flyers

• 1000 Corporate Leniency Policy booklets

Figure 11: Comparative Media articles 

Year Positive Negative Total

2005/06 3462 102 3564

2004/05 3320 57 3377

2003/04 3136 75 3211

2002/03 1624 47 1671
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4.1 Resource Utilisation

In line with the Public Finance Management Act, the statistical data below illustrates our performance (output) in terms of our efficiency,

effectiveness and economy. 

Total cost per type of output is based on total cost for the specific division, a percentage cost of supporting divisions as well as a percentage cost
of the administrative divisions. Specifically in the case of Enforcement investigations, more than 50% of legal services division has been allocated
towards the cost of these cases.

Note: Some percentages exceed 100%. This is as a result of cases brought forward from the previous financial year.

Figure 12: Cost per output and per case

Type of output Total cost Percentage of
costs

Number of cases
finalised

Cost per case

Merger investigations 17,919,615 28.79 394 45,481

Enforcement investigations 24,533,900 39.41 80 306,674

Advisory opinions & clarifications 5,978,898 9.60 158 37,841

Education and information 3,911,873 6.28 N/A N/A

Policy development 3,114,873 5.00 N/A N/A

Communication 5,448,679 8.75 N/A N/A

Capacity building 1,349,777 2.17 N/A N/A

Total 62,257,615 100.00

Figure 13:  Overview of cases notified and finalised

Type of output Number of cases
notified

Number of cases
finalised

Percentage of cases
finalised

Total number of
investigators

Average number
of cases

finalised per
investigator

05/
06

04/
05

03/
04

02/
03

05/
06

04/
05

03/
04

02/
03

05/
06

04/
05

03/
04

02/
03

05/
06

04/
05

03/
04

02/
03

05/
06

04/
05

03/
04

Mergers 408 311 284 211 394 301 278 202 97 97 98 96 7 8.2 8.6 9 56.3 36.3 32.4

Complaints &
Exemptions

114 92 94 94 80 80 100 95 76 106.4 106 101 15 9.6 10.4 10 5.3 8.3 9.6

Advisory Opinions
& Clarifications

161 146 122 83 158 140 117 79 98 96 95.5 95 4 6 3.7 1.8 39.5 23.3 33.3
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4.2 Human Resources

We fully appreciate that our employees are our major resource. It is

important to us that we provide a nurturing environment that is

conducive to attracting and retaining high quality employees at all levels.

The development of human talent is integral to this process and we are

deeply committed to enhancing the knowledge base and competencies

of all our employees. We champion equal opportunities throughout our

organisation, regardless of gender, race, disability or age. Given the fact

that our staff are specialists in a new area, staff retention remains one of

our greatest challenges.

4.2.1 Policy Development 

We continuously review our policies to ensure alignment with best

practice.

During the year under review there was a limited increase in overall

headcount, as well as a high staff turnover. 

4.2.2 Employment Equity

Our Employment Equity Plan was developed and implemented in line

with the Employment Equity Act and ongoing training and exposure is

encouraged.  

4.2.3 Designated Group Representation

Progress towards a diverse and representative staff composition

remains an ongoing focus for us; we desire a workforce that will truly

reflect the diversity of our country’s population. As indicated in the

accompanying tables, satisfactory progress has been made towards

realising our goals. At year-end, our 80 staff members included 58

people from historically disadvantaged groups: this is 73% of the total

staff complement. If one includes other designated groups, namely

disabled persons and white females, the representation rises to 88% of

the overall total. Three of our employees are disabled persons. We are

committed to provide opportunities to disabled persons and ensuring

that all our employees are fully integrated.
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4.2.4 Gender Analysis

As depicted in figure 15, the percentage of female staff members is

currently 44% of all employees – a decrease from 48% the previous 

year. Employment initiatives to recruit and retain female employees,

especially in technical areas, remain a priority for us in the years ahead.  

4.2.5 Technical Staff

Our technical staff comprises mainly economists and lawyers

responsible for the economic and legal analysis and investigation of

cases. Out of our 80 employees, 50% were technical 

staff members responsible for our core functions of case investigation

and analysis. When case-related administration and support are

included, the figure increases to 63%. 

Figure 15: Gender 

Gender Actual
2006

Actual
2005

Actual
No

Male 56% 52% 45

Female 44% 48% 35

Figure 14: Analysis of designated groups 

Ethnic Group 2006 2005

Female Male Total Female Male Total

African 19 28 47 19 23 42

White 10 12 22 11 14 25

Coloured 3 3 6 3 3 6

Asian 3 2 5 6 3 9

Total 35 45 80 39 43 82
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4.2.6 Utilisation of Consultants

To address our shortage of skills in the fields of competition law and

economic analysis, three full-time consultants were employed during 

the period under review. We ensure that these consultants transfer

their skills to our employees. Performance indicators and targets have

been agreed upon with consultants.

Figure 17: Distribution of staff per activity: 

At year-end, we had 19 vacancies: we will fast-track the filling of these positions in the coming year.

Activity Number of Employees

March 2006 March 2005

Administration 26 30

Case-related administration 6 4

Case investigations 19 20

Education and information 9 8

Policy & research 7 8

Legal services 6 4

Executive committee 6 6

Planning and co-ordination 1 2

Total 80 82
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Figure 16: Analysis of technical staff per division: 

Divisions Total Economists Total Lawyers Overall Totals

2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

Mergers & acquisitions 4 6 3 3 7 9

Enforcements & exemptions 3 3 12 8 15 11

Policy & research 6 8 0 0 6 8

Legal services 0 0 7 5 7 5

Commissioner’s office 0 0 1 2 1 2

Compliance 0 0 4 5 4 5

Total 13 17 27 23 40 40

% 16% 21% 34% 28% 50% 49%



4.2.7 Skills Development 

Committed to enhancing the skills of our employees, we strive to

encourage a culture of lifelong learning and offer ample opportunities

for professional development. This year we funded 48 employees to

attend both formal and informal training / education courses relevant to

their professions at various academic institutions. We placed particular

emphasis on competition law and economics. Throughout the year we

worked closely with employees to outline their personal developmental

plans and tried to identify both gaps in their skills and career

opportunities for them in order to design relevant training programs.

We provided skills development training to our staff to develop their

expertise across a wide range of competencies. Employees attended

a variety of competition-related conferences, both locally and abroad.

This exposure to international best practice in relation to the

enforcement and application of competition law proved invaluable.

We sent 11 employees to the Competition Law-EC Summer School in

Cambridge (Britain) and Trier (Germany), while 12 other employees

attended overseas conferences and seminars.

An analysis of employees who participated in the education assistance

programme for the year is provided below: 

63% are studying in the legal field, competition law and economics

33% are studying in management and operational fields

15% are pursuing masters degrees.

.

Of our staff members:

• 34% attended competition and regulatory courses

• 13% attended operations training courses

• 53% attended management training courses

4.2.8 Employee Performance

Our Performance Management System is a tool that effectively tracks

performance. Where performance slacks, management and training

interventions are introduced to help the employees perform at their

best. Using our PMS, we also recognised and rewarded good

performance. For the year under review, 70 staff members who qualified

to participate in our PMS, met or exceeded the pre-determined

objectives, and thus qualified for their annual performance bonuses.  

4.2.9 Leave Utilisation

• 78% of annual leave due was utilised - this translates to about 17

days annual leave taken per employee

• 31% of sick leave days available were taken - sick leave is

managed on a regular basis and trends perceived to be of a

serious nature are followed up promptly

Figure 18: Consultants per area of expertise: 

Field Male Female PDI

Lawyers 1 0 1

Economists 1 0 0

Business Economists 1 0 0

Totals 3 0 1
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4.2.10 Employee Welfare

During the period under review, we participated in Deloitte’s ‘Best

Company to Work For’ survey. This survey affords companies the

opportunity to gain insight into employees’ perceptions concerning,

amongst others, human resources practices. We were ranked 2nd in

the Public Sector category!

We also participated in various programs aimed at reducing the risk of

HIV / AIDS and other related health issues. Our HIV / AIDS policy

ensures that infected employees (and prospective employees) who

disclose their status may not be discriminated against.

Employees are kept informed about our business through a wide range of

communications channels, including our regular divisional feedback ses-

sions, weekly electronic newsletter and Commission wide staff meetings.  

4.2.11 Labour Relations

During the year under review we signed a collective agreement with the

PSA. The PSA is a majority union representing more than 50% of our

employees.

.

Disciplinary and grievance cases were all handled and settled amicably.

None of the hearings resulted in the termination of services. 

4.2.12 Social Investment 

This year, 13 trainees were placed in the Graduate Training

Programme: one of the trainees was appointed to a vacancy whilst five

others had their contracts extended. 

We have an established social responsibility group that helps staff

members raise funds to donate to charitable organisations. We

donated funds to Filadelfia Secondary School for disabled children and

the Halalelang Shelter for HIV / AIDS infected and affected children.

Clothes and blankets were also donated to the Pretoria Upliftment

Project and we actively participated in the "Cell C take a Girl Child to

Work Day".

Days Taken per Division No. of Staff Annual Leave Utilized Sick Leave Utilized Other Leave Taken

Commissioner’s office 3 73 7 5

Mergers & acquisitions 10 153 53 12

Enforcements & exemptions 16 140 57 104

Policy & research 9 194 36 64

Legal services 9 156 13 12

Compliance 11 185 30 31

Corporate Services 22 476 97 80

Total 80 1377 293 308
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Figure 19:  Leave utilised per division: 



4.3 Information Technology 

The Information Technology (IT) department provides a secure, user

friendly and efficient IT environment for all employees. We have

introduced various technologies to aid us daily. The case management

system and the Share Point Portal server were revamped during the

year under review enabling interactive information management.

Whilst preparing to host The International Competition Network (ICN)

Conference in May 2006, we developed, launched and hosted an ICN

website internally.

4.4 Registry 

The total number of new cases registered, scanned, filed and archived

increased by 26%, from 557 in the previous year to 703 in the year

under review.

In compliance with the Promotion of Access to Information Act, we

made the records of 25 cases available to the public on request.

Access was denied in two instances because of the confidential or

restricted nature of the information. 

4.5 Securities and Facilities Management 

Our security management plays a major role when it comes to asset

protection, safety of staff and protection of information.

During the year under review the focus was on ensuring workplace

safety. The following key performances were achieved:

• effective management of access control in the building

• implementation of disaster plans

• introduction of safety drills 

• implementation of occupational health and safety awareness

programs

• training of staff members in first aid
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5.1 Compliance with Corporate Governance
Best Practices

We are fully committed to the principles of openness, accountability

and integrity as advocated in the King Code of Corporate Governance.

We are also subject to the provisions of the Public Finance

Management Act No. 1 of 1999. 

5.2 Commissioner

Our powers are vested in the Commissioner who, as Chief Executive

Officer, is directly responsible to the Minister of Trade and Industry. The

Commissioner is responsible for the general administration of the

Commission and for performing all functions assigned to us in terms of

the Act.

The Commissioner and the Deputy Commissioner are responsible for

the required decision-making in respect of cases presented to the

Commission.

5.3 Executive Committee and the
Management Committee

Under the chairmanship of the Commissioner, we have an Executive

Committee made up of all the Divisional Managers as well as the

Deputy Commissioner.  

The Committee meets weekly, but exercises management and

leadership daily in the Commission. They address a broad range of key

issues and ensure that any debate on policy, case analysis and

strategic planning is critical, constructive and informed. They are also

responsible for approving major capital expenditure for use at our

discretion. 

.

.

The Committee has access to the advice and services of the

Commission Secretary. It is the Secretary’s role to ensure that we

comply with relevant legislation and regulations and he must effect

implementation of best practice in all areas of our operation.

A Management Committee, comprising senior members within the

Commission, reviews strategic issues and policies prior to their referral

to the Executive Committee. This promotes the broader participation of

staff in our decision-making processes.

5.4 Management Reporting

There are management reporting disciplines in place and these include

the preparation of annual budgets and business plans by all operating

divisions. Financial performance and key statistics are reported against

approved budgets monthly. The Executive Committee holds an annual

review where the financial status of divisions and their results are

reported on and the Committee then assesses their strategic plans and

budgets. Cash flow forecasts are updated monthly and expenditure is

monitored on an ongoing basis.

5.5 Internal Controls

Our internal systems and controls are designed to provide reasonable

assurance of the integrity and reliability of the financial statements, and

to adequately protect, verify and maintain accountability for our assets.

These controls are based on developed policies and procedures. They

are implemented by trained personnel with an acceptable level of

segregation of duties. Management monitors the effectiveness of these

controls and systems. Our internal auditors provide an independent

appraisal function and review the adequacy and effectiveness of our

internal controls and the systems that support them. All significant
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findings arising from audit activities are reported to the Audit

Committee and the Commissioner.

5.6 Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is chaired by an independent, non-executive

member and both the Internal and External Auditors have unrestricted

access to this Committee. A Steering Committee co-ordinates

between the Internal Auditors, External Auditors, the Commissioner

and the Executive Committee. The Audit Committee Charter was

reviewed. The Audit Committee met in June 2005, November 2005

and March 2006.

The Audit Committee reviewed the:

• quarterly internal audit reports

• internal audit plans

• external audit plans

• risk assessment plan

• fraud prevention plan

• financial statements for the year ending 31 March 2006

The Audit Committee has continued to assist the Executive Committee

in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities as they relate to internal controls,

risk management, compliance with laws, regulations and financial

management.

Members of the Committee:

Chairperson:

• Sakhile Masuku

Executive members:

• Maleho Nkomo

• Johan Dreyer

Non-Executive Members:

• Humphrey Buthelezi

• Sakhile Masuku

• Nonku Tshombe

• Tobie Verwey

5.7 Risk Management 

Managing risk is integral to the Commission; we therefore commit

management and other resources to the ongoing improvement of our

risk and control procedures with a view to safeguarding our staff, our

assets and our corporate credibility and reputation. 

The risk management process comprises risk identification, risk

analysis and measurement, risk evaluation, the strategies to manage

risk and the monitoring and reporting thereof. Our management team

retains responsibility for the total risk management process. Their

policy on risk management encompasses all significant business risks

including financial, operational and compliance risks.

The Fraud Prevention Plan ensures that we address all fraud risks

effectively. We uphold a policy of ‘zero tolerance’ against fraud and

other acts of dishonesty. Our policy states that all alleged incidents of

fraud will be investigated, and all transgressors will be punished to the

fullest possible measure of both our disciplinary and legal channels.   

5.8 Preferential Procurement Policy
Framework Act

We adhere to the Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act of

South Africa and believe in using preferential procurement as a tool for the

socio-economic empowerment of historically disadvantaged South

Africans. A Tender Committee assists the Commissioner in monitoring the

evaluating and awarding of tenders for services and products required. 
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5.9 Code of Ethics

Our management and all our employees are expected to comply with

our written code of ethics. The code requires everyone to behave with

honesty and integrity and to maintain the highest ethical standards

possible. 

5.10 Employment Equity

Details of our Employment Equity Policy appear in the Report on

Employment Equity on page 40 of this Annual Report. 

5.11 Safety, Health and Environment

The occupational health and safety of our employees is of primary

importance to us and we are committed to taking every reasonable

precaution to ensure a safe working environment. We strive to conduct

all our business with due regard for environmental concerns and are

dedicated to developing operating policies to address the

environmental impact of our business activities.
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The Accounting Authority is responsible for the preparation, integrity

and fair presentation of the financial statements of the Competition

Commission.  The financial statements presented on pages 55 to 83

have been prepared in accordance with South African Statements of

Generally Accepted Accounting Practice including any interpretations

of such Statements issued by the Accounting Practices Board, with

the prescribed Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting

Practice issued by the Accounting Standards Board to the extent as

indicated in the accounting policies, and include amounts based on

judgements and estimates made by management.  The Accounting

Authority also prepared the other information included in the annual

report and is responsible for both its accuracy and its consistency with

the financial statements.

The going concern basis has been adopted in preparing the financial

statements.  The Accounting Authority has no reason to believe that

the Commission will not be a going concern in the foreseeable future

based on forecasts and available cash resources.  These financial

statements support the viability of the Commission.

The financial statements have been audited by the Auditor-General,

which was given unrestricted access to all financial records and related

data including minutes of meetings of the Executive Committee.  The

Accounting Authority believes that all representations made to the

Auditor-General during his audit are valid and appropriate.

The audit report of the Auditor General is presented on page 54.  The

financial statements were approved and signed by the Accounting

Authority on 31 May 2006.

MR S RAMBURUTH

ACTING ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY

31 May 2006

The Competition Commission
Statement of Responsibility

for the year ended 31 March 2006
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This report was prepared as per the Treasury Regulations 27.1.7 and

27.1.10(b) and (c) for public entities issued in terms of the Public

Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999), as amended by

Act 29 of 1999.

The Competition Commission is listed as a national public entity in

Schedule 3A of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA).

The Audit Committee met three times during the year under review.

The Audit Committee comprises of Mr S Masuku (Chairperson), Mr T

Verwey, Mr H Buthelezi and Ms N Tshombe, who are all external

members.

Other persons who attended the Audit Committee meetings regularly

include the internal auditors, representatives from the Auditor-General,

Mrs M Nkomo (Chief Financial Officer) and Mr J Dreyer (Commission

Secretary), both who represent management.

The Committee operates in accordance with its term of charter and is

satisfied that it has completed its responsibilities in compliance with its

charter.

The system of controls is designed to provide cost effective assurance

that assets are safeguarded and that liabilities and working capital are

efficiently managed. In line with the requirements of the  PFMA and the

King ll Report on Corporate Governance, internal audit provides the

Audit Committee and management with assurance that the internal

controls are appropriate and effective. This is achieved by means of the

risk management process, as well as the identification of corrective

actions and suggested enhancements to the controls and processes.

From the various reports of the Internal Auditors and External Auditors,

no significant or material non-compliance with prescribed policies and

procedures have been reported. The Audit Committee believes that the

systems of internal control for the period under review were effective

and efficient.  

The Audit Committee has:

• Reviewed and discussed the audited Competition Commission

annual financial statements to be included in the annual report

with the Auditor-General’s and management;

• Reviewed the Auditor-General’s management letter and

management’s response thereto;

• Reviewed changes in accounting policies and practices;

• Reviewed significant adjustments resulting from the audit; and

• Reviewed the in year management reports and was satisfied with

the quality and contents thereof.

The Audit Committee concurs and accepts the Auditor-General‘s

conclusions on the annual financial statements. 

CHAIRPERSON: SAKHILE MASUKU

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Competition Commission
Report of the Audit Committee
for the year ended 31 March 2006
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1. AUDIT ASSIGNMENT

The financial statements as set out on pages 55 to 83, for the year

ended 31 March 2006, have been audited in terms of section 188 of

the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996, read with

sections 4 and 20 of the Public Audit Act, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004)

and section 40(10) of the Competition Act, 1998 (Act No. 89 of 1998).

These financial statements are the responsibility of the accounting

authority. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial

statements, based on the audit.

2. SCOPE

The audit was conducted in accordance with the International

Standards on Auditing read with General Notice 544 of 2006, issued in

Government Gazette no. 28723 of 10 April 2006 and General Notice

808 of 2006, issued in Government Gazette no. 28954 of 23 June

2006. Those standards require that I plan and perform the audit to

obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free of

material misstatement.  

An audit includes:

• examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and

disclosures in the financial statements

• assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates

made by management

• evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

I believe that the audit provides a reasonable basis for my opinion.

3. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING 

The entity is required to prepare financial statements on the basis of

accounting determined by the National Treasury, as described in note

1.1 to the financial statements.

4. AUDIT OPINION

In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material

respects, the financial position of the Competition Commission at 31

March 2006 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the

year then ended, in accordance with the basis of accounting

determined by the National Treasury of South Africa, as described in

note 1.1 to the financial statements, and in the manner required by the

Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999). 

5. APPRECIATION

The assistance rendered by the staff of the Competition Commission

during the audit is sincerely appreciated.

Y M Essack for Auditor-General 

Pretoria

31 July 2006

The Competition Commission
Report of the Auditor-General to Parliament on the Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 March 2006
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Report by the Accounting Authority to the Executive Authority and

Parliament of the Republic of South Africa.

1.  NATURE OF BUSINESS

The Commission derives its mandate from the Competition Act No. 89

of 1998, as amended.  The main objectives, as determined by the

Competition Act, are the following: 

• Promote efficiency, adaptability and development of the economy;

• Provide consumers with competitive prices and product choices;

• To promote employment, and advance social and economic

welfare of South Africans;

• To expand opportunities for South African participation in world

markets and recognise the role of foreign competition in the

Republic;

• To ensure that small and medium sized enterprises have an

equitable opportunity to participate in the economy; and 

• To promote the greater spread of ownership, in particular to

increase the ownership stakes of historically disadvantaged

persons.

2.  FINANCIAL OVERVIEW / PERFORMANCE

2.1 Financial Results

The Competition Commission
Accounting Authority’s Report
for the year ended 31 March 2006

Revenue

Interest received

Total Revenue

Expenditure

Net surplus/(deficit)

Total assets

Total liabilities

2006 
R'000

68 902

3 345

72 247

62 258

9 989

52 532

10 773

2005
R'000

62 950

3 403

66 353

66 608

(255) 

49 095

17 325
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2.2 Total Revenue

Total revenue increased from R66 million in 2005 to R72 million in

2006.  The 9% increase was as a result of an increase in revenue

derived from merger filing fees as well as other income. 

An overall increase of 32% on filing fee income was achieved due to an

increase in the number of merger notifications received.  Merger cases

filed during the year increased by 32% to 411 (2005 : 311). 

Interest earned on temporarily available funds decreased from R3.4m

in 2005 to R3.3m in the year under review.  The 3% decrease was due

to less funds available for investment purposes.

Other income, which include the skills levy refund, increased by 118%

to approximately R0.74m (2005: R0.34m). The increase was mainly

due to a court award granted to the Commission as well as a substantial

amount of study fees that were refunded to the Commission.

2.3 Expenditure

Expenditure decreased from R67 million in 2005 to R62 million in 2006,

reflecting an overall decrease of 8%.  This was as a result of the

decrease in operating expenditure.  The reduction in operating

expenditure is mainly due to the previous year’s expense relating to the

penalty paid on cancellation of the lease agreement to relocate offices

to the dti campus that amounted to R7 million. 

2.4 Financial Performance

The Commission generated a surplus of R9.989m (2005: R0.255m

deficit) for the current year.  The surplus was mainly due to the

decreased costs as indicated in the previous paragraph.  

The Commission obtained approval from National Treasury to retain

their surplus funds of R41.7 million for the current financial year.

It is anticipated that future government grants would be increased to

match planned expenditure. 

3.  EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The following staff members comprised the Executive Committee

during the year ended 31 March 2006:

Adv. M. Simelane Commissioner (Resigned - 31 May 2005)

Mr. M. Ramburuth Acting Commissioner (Appointed  - 1 June

2005)

Mr. J. Dreyer Commission Secretary

Ms. Z. Ntuli Compliance (Resigned – 13 January 2006)

Ms. M. Nkomo Corporate Services

Ms. M. Ntlha Legal Services (Resigned – 30 June 2005) 

Ms. L. Blignaut Mergers and Acquisitions

Mr. G. Parr Policy and Research 

Mr. T. Kunene Enforcement & Exemptions (Appointed – 5

September 2005)

Mr. M. Worsley Legal Services (Appointed – 1 September

2005)

The Competition Commission
Accounting Authority’s Report (Continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2006
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4.  ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY’S REMUNERATION

5.  EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE REMUNERATION

The Competition Commission
Accounting Authority’s Report (Continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2006

The remuneration amounts include performance bonuses, pension fund contributions, expense allowances and other costs.

The remuneration amounts include performance bonuses, pension fund contributions, expense allowances and other costs. 

Adv. M. Simelane (Resigned – 31 May 2005)

Mr. M. Ramburuth (Acting – 1 June 2005)

2006 
R'000

239

564

2005
R'000

1 188

-

Mr. J. Dreyer

Ms. Z. Ntuli (Resigned – 13 January 2006)

Ms. M. Nkomo

Ms. M. Ntlha (Resigned – 30 June 2005)

Ms. L. Blignaut

Mr. G. Parr

Mr. T. Kunene (Appointed – 5 September 2005)

Mr. M. Worsley (Appointed – 1 September 2005)

2006 
R'000

525

507

721

187

638

655

367

624

2005
R'000

472

580

673

591

586

613

-

-
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6.  CHANGES IN NATURE OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT

No major changes in the nature of property, plant and equipment or

changes in the policy relating to the use of property, plant and

equipment took place during the year under review. 

7.  MATERIALITY FRAMEWORK

The Commission determined a planning materiality figure of R 341,000

for the year under review.  The Commission’s business is such that it is

not capital intensive and revenue was regarded as the best indicator of

business activity.  1% of budgeted fee income was used in determining

the materiality figure.

Material facts and losses of a quantitative nature are disclosed when

the materiality figure is exceeded, or if they arose through criminal

conduct, irregular/fruitless and wasteful expenditure.  Disposal of

significant assets when overall operational functions of the Commission

changes, are disclosed.

8.  EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO FINANCIAL POSITION
DATE

There are no events subsequent to the financial position date to be

reported on.

9. FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL EXPENDITURE

A penalty of R 26 120 was imposed by the Workmen’s Compensation

Commission due a late submission of the 2005/06 return.  The matter

was investigated internally and it was concluded that no person is

liable, which as a result, no further action is taken.  This matter was

reported to National Treasury as required by Section 51(2) of the Public

Finance Management Act, 1999.

10.  IRREGULAR EXPENDITURE

The irregular expenditure arose as a result of leases being entered into

where substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership

were transferred to the Commission. This is synonymous with the

definition of a finance lease as defined in South African Statements of

Generally Accepted Accounting Practice IAS 17 – Leases and Treasury

Regulation 32.2.2. In accordance with Treasury Regulation 32.2.5(b)

finance leases can only be entered into with approval from the Minister

of Finance. The intention of management was to acquire the use of an

asset for an agreed period of time through the payment of a series of

rentals, and not to contravene Treasury Regulations or the Public

Finance Management Act. As a result no individual can be held liable

for the incurrence of the irregular expenditure.  This matter was

reported to National Treasury as required by Section 51(2) of the Public

Finance Management Act, 1999.

The effect of the irregular expenditure is reflected in the notes to the

financial statements in respect of property, plant and equipment;

finance leases; depreciation; finance charges; prior period error and

accumulated surplus.

The Competition Commission
Accounting Authority’s Report (Continued)
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11.  COMMISSION SECRETARY

The details of the Commission’s secretary are as follows:

Mr. P.J. Dreyer

Business address: The dti campus

Building C: Mulayo

77 Meintjies Street

Sunnyside

TSHWANE

Postal address: Private Bag X23

Lynnwood Ridge

0040

TSHWANE

No changes occurred during the period under review.

12.  ADDRESS

The Commission’s registered offices are situated at: -

The dti campus

Building C: Mulayo

77 Meintjies Street

Sunnyside

TSHWANE

with the postal address

Private Bag X23

Lynwood Ridge

0040

TSHWANE

MR S RAMBURUTH

ACTING ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY

31 May 2006

The Competition Commission
Accounting Authority’s Report (Continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2006
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The Competition Commission
Statement of Financial Performance

for the year ended 31 March 2006

REVENUE NOTES 2006 
R'000

2005 
R'000

Fee income

Grants and transfers

Other  income

Total Revenue

Expenses

Administrative expenses

Employee cost

Other operating expenditure

Depreciation

Finance charges

Loss on disposal/scrapping of assets

Surplus/(deficit) from operations

Interest received

Surplus/(deficit) for the period

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

47,158 

21,008  

736 

68,902 

62,258

1,999  

31,542  

27,540 

1,109 

62  

6 

6,644 

3,345 

9,989

36,669

25,951 

330

62,950

66,608 

1,859  

27,634  

35,558  

1,442 

113 

2 

(3,658)

3,403

(255)
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The Competition Commission
Statement of Financial Position

as at 31 March 2006

ASSETS NOTES 2006 
R'000

2005 
R'000

Current Assets

Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment
Assets held for disposal

Total Assets

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables
Provisions
Deferred income
Short term portion of finance lease

Non-current Liabilities

Finance lease

Total Liabilities

NET ASSETS

Accumulated surpluses

13
14

12
12

15
16
17
18

18

50,962

1,011 
49,951 

1,570 

1,483
87 

52,532

10,773

8,075
466

2,095 
137 

-  

10,773

41,759 

46,735

673
46,062

2,360

2,250
110 

49,095

17,188

16,740
-
-

448 

137 

17,325

31,770
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The Competition Commission
Statement of Changes in Net Assets

for the year ended 31 March 2006

NOTES 2006 
R'000

2005 
R'000

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS

Balance at the beginning of the year

Previously reported
Adjusted for:
Prior period error

Restated balance at beginning of the year

Surplus/(deficit) for the period
Previously reported
Adjusted for:
Prior period error

Balance at the end of the year

19

31,770

-  

- 

31,770 

9,989 
-  

- 

41,759

32,025

32,105  

(80)

32,025

(255)
(163)  

(92)

31,770
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The Competition Commission
Cash Flow Statement

for the year ended 31 March 2006

NOTES 2006 
R'000

2005 
R'000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash receipts from customers 
Cash paid to suppliers and employees
Cash increase from operations

Interest received
Finance charges

NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additions to property, plant and equipment

NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Finance lease repayments

NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

20

22

14

68,564
(67,186)

1,378 

3,345
(62)

4,661

(324)

(324)

(448)

(448)

3,889 

46,062 

49,951 

63,266
(60,876)

2,390 

3,403
(113) 

5,680

(216)

(216)

(150)

(150)

5,314 

40,748

46,062



The recognition and measurement principles in the above GRAP and GAAP Statements do not differ or result in material differences in items

presented and disclosed in the financial statements. The implementation of GRAP 1, 2 & 3 has resulted in the following significant changes in the

presentation of the financial statements:

1. Terminology differences:

Standard of GRAP Replaced Statement of GAAP

Statement of financial performance Income statement

Statement of financial position Balance sheet

Statement of changes in net assets Statement of changes in equity

Net assets Equity

Surplus/deficit for the period Profit/loss for the period

Accumulated surplus/deficit Retained earnings

Contributions from owners Share capital

Distributions to owners Dividends

Reporting date Balance sheet date

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the historical

cost basis and include the following principal accounting policies

which, in all material respects, are consistent with those applied in the

previous year, except as otherwise indicated:-

1.1 Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the

South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice

(GAAP) including any interpretations of such Statements issued by the

Accounting Practices Board, with the prescribed Standards of

Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) issued by the

Accounting Standards Board replacing the equivalent GAAP

Statement as follows:

The Competition Commission
Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 March 2006

Standard of GRAP Replaced Statement of GAAP

GRAP 1: Presentation of financial statements AC101: Presentation of financial statements

GRAP 2: Cash flow statements AC118: Cash flow statements

GRAP 3: Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors AC103: Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and

errors
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2. The cash flow statement can only be prepared in accordance with

the direct method.

3. Specific information such as:

(a) receivables from non-exchange transactions, including taxes

and transfers;

(b) taxes and transfers payable;

(c) trade and other payables from non-exchange transactions;

must be presented separately on the statement of financial

position

4. The amount and nature of any restrictions on cash balances is

required to be disclosed.

Paragraph 11 – 15 of GRAP 1 has not been implemented as the

budget reporting standard is in the process of being developed by the

international and local standard setters. Although the inclusion of

budget information would enhance the usefulness of the financial

statements, non-disclosure will not affect fair presentation.

1.2 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises of case notification fees and facility charges

received.  Revenue from case notification fees is recognised when the

case is accepted by the Commission.  Facility fees are recognised on

a monthly basis for services rendered by the Commission for

infrastructure usage by the Competition Tribunal.  Other income is

recognised, as and when received. 

1.3 Interest received

Interest received is recognised on a time-proportion basis by reference

to the principal cash investment and the interest rate applicable. 

1.4 Government grants

Government grants are recognised as income over the periods neces-

sary to match them with the related costs, which they are intended to

compensate, on a systematic basis.

1.5 Property, plant and equipment

Assets purchased for less than R2,500 are written off in the year of

acquisition.  Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost

less accumulated depreciation.  Depreciation is calculated with the

straight-line method on the cost less residual value, to write off assets

over the estimated useful lives.

The estimated useful lives of assets are:

Leasehold improvements 4,75 years

Furniture and fittings 10 years

Office and Catering equipment 5 years

Motor vehicles 5 years

Computer equipment and software 3 years

Cellphones 3 years

Photocopiers period of lease

The residual value and useful lives of property, plant and equipment is

considered every year for any adjustments necessary.

1.6    Impairment of Assets

The Commission assesses at each reporting date whether there is any

indication that an asset may be impaired.  If there is any indication that

an asset may be impaired, recoverable amount is estimated for the

individual asset. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount

of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating

unit to which the asset belongs is determined.

The Competition Commission
Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2006
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The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the

higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.  If the

recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the

carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.

That reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated

depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately in surplus or

deficit. Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a

revaluation decrease. An impairment loss is recognised for cash-

generating units if the recoverable amount of the unit is less than the

carrying amount of the units. The impairment loss is allocated to

reduce the carrying amount of the assets of the unit in the following

order:

• first, to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to

the cash-generating unit and 

• then, to the other assets of the unit, pro rata on the basis of the

carrying amount of each asset in the unit. 

The Commission assesses at each reporting date whether there is any

indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for assets

may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication

exists, the recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset attributable to a reversal of

an impairment loss does not exceed the carrying amount that would

have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the

asset in prior years.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less

accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately in

surplus or deficit. Any reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued asset

is treated as a revaluation increase.

1.7 Leasing

Leases of assets are classified as finance leases whenever the terms

of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership

to the lessee.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets at their fair

value at the inception of the lease or, if lower at the present value of the

minimum lease payments.  The corresponding liability to the lessor is

included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease

obligation.  Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges

and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate

of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.  Finance charges are

charged to surplus or deficit.

Leases of assets under which all the risks and rewards of ownership

are effectively retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases.

Payments made under operating leases are charged to the statement

of financial performance on a straight-line basis over the period of the

lease.

1.8 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are

readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to

insignificant risk in change in value.  Cash and cash equivalents are

measured at fair value.

1.9 Employee benefits

Contributions to the defined contribution pension plan are charged to

the statement of financial perfomance in the year in which they relate.

The institution has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further

contributions once the contributions have been paid.

The Competition Commission
Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2006
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1.10 Financial instruments

Financial instruments carried on the statement of financial position

include cash and bank balances, receivables and trade payables.

These financial instruments are generally carried at their estimated fair

value, which is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or

a liability settled, between knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s

length transaction.  

Recognition

Financial instruments are initially recognised using the trade date

accounting method.

Measurement

Financial instruments are initially measured at cost, which includes

transaction cost.  Subsequently to initial recognition these instruments

are measured at fair value.

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial

instruments are recognised in net surplus or deficit in the year in which

they arise.

1.11 Comparative figures

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform

to changes in presentation in the current year.

1.12 Provisions

Provisions are raised when a present legal or constructive obligation

exists as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of

resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate

can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The Competition Commission
Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2006
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NOTES 2006 
R'000

2005 
R'000

2 Fee income

An analysis of the Commission's fee income is as follows:
Rendering of services:
-  Filing fees
-  Facility fees

Total

3 Grants and transfers

Government grant

Total

4 Other income

Gifts, donations and sponsorships
Conferences, skills levy refund and other
Profit on disposal of assets

Total

5 Administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses
Auditors remuneration
-  External audit fees

Total

Annexure  1A

46,791
367 

47,158 

21,008 

21,008

-
736 

- 

736

1,669 
330 
330 

1,999 

35,513
1,156 

36,669

25,951 

25,951 

18
218
94 

330

1,658
201
201 

1,859

The Competition Commission
Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2006
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2006 
R'000

2005 
R'000

6 Employee cost

Salaries
-  Basic salaries
-  Performance awards
-  Temporary staff

Defined Pension contribution plan expense
Social contributions 
-  Medical
-  UIF
-  Insurance
-  Workmans compensation

Other salary related costs
Accounting Authority's emoluments

Adv. M. Simelane
Salary
Pension contribution
Cellphone allowance
Performance bonus
Other  

Mr. M. Ramburuth
Salary
Pension contribution
Cellphone allowance

Subtotal

20,046
17,468
2,199

379  

1,274
1,861
1,083

113
498
167  

3,334
803  

239
106

6
4
-

123  

564
520
30
14  

27,318

17,427
15,014
2,206

207  

1,111
1,691
1,066

98
435
92  

2,702
1,188  

1,188
582
34
22

550  
-  

-
-
-
- 

24,119 

The Competition Commission
Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2006
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2006 
R'000

2005 
R'000

Executive committee emoluments

Mr. J. Dreyer
Salary
Pension contribution
Cellphone allowance
Performance bonus

Ms. Z. Ntuli
Salary
Pension contribution
Cellphone allowance
Performance bonus
Other  

Ms. M. Nkomo
Salary
Pension contribution
Cellphone allowance
Performance bonus

Ms. M. Ntlha
Salary
Pension contribution
Cellphone allowance
Performance bonus
Other  

Balance carried forward

525 
425 
25
9

66  

507
394
23
9

58  
23  

721
599
30
12
80  

187
122

9
3
-

53 

29,258

472
387
22
9

54  

580
460
29
11
80  

-  

673
548
26
11
88  

591
473
32
11
75

- 

26,435

The Competition Commission
Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2006
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2006 
R'000

2005 
R'000

Balance brought forward

Ms. L. Blignaut
Salary
Pension contribution
Cellphone allowance
Performance bonus

Mr. G. Parr
Salary
Pension contribution
Cellphone allowance
Performance bonus

Mr. T. Kunene
Salary
Pension contribution
Cellphone allowance
Performance bonus

Mr. M. Worsley
Salary
Pension contribution
Cellphone allowance
Performance bonus

Total

7 Other operating expenses

Consultants, contractors and special services
Legal fees
Maintenance, repairs and running costs
Education and awareness
Research projects 
Operating leases
Other

Total

29,258

638
521
33
12
72  

655
536
33
12
74  

367
302
18
7

40  

624
500
37
11
76 

31,542 

1,738
4,321

338
2,443

813
5,923

11,964 

27,540

26,435

586
475
31
11
69 

613
488
33
11
81 

-
-
-
-
- 

-
-
-
-
- 

27,634

2,566
7,609

775
2,273

168
5,315

16,852 

35,558
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2006 
R'000

2005 
R'000

8 Depreciation

-  Leasehold improvements
-  Office and catering equipment
-  Motor vehicles
-  Computer equipment and software
-  Furniture and fittings
-  Cellphones
-  Photocopiers

Total

9 Finance charges

Photocopiers

Total

10 Interest received

Interest received
-  Bank

Total

11 Fruitless expenditure

Medical aid debtor
Fines and penalties to Workman's Compensation

Total

-
31
17

498
236

1
326  

1,109

62 

62

3,345 

3,345

-
26 

26

268
161
17

467
237

-
292 

1,442

113 

113

3,403 

3,403

84
- 

84

The fruitless expenditure occurred due to Workmen's Compensation not being paid on time.  The matter was investigated and
concluded that no person is liable, which as a result, no further action is taken.  This matter was reported to Treasury as required
by Section 51(2) of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999.

The Competition Commission
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2006 
R'000

2005 
R'000

12 Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold improvements

Carrying amount at beginning of year
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Depreciation for the year

Carrying amount at end of year
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Furniture and fittings

Carrying amount at beginning of year
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Additions
Held for disposal in previous year - not disposed
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Held for disposal
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Disposals
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Depreciation for the year

Carrying amount at end of year
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Balance carried forward

-

-
-
- 

- 

-
-
- 

755

973
2,128

(1,155)

-
110
243

(133)
(87)

(243)
156

(5)
(12)

7
(236)

755
2,116

(1,361)

755

-

268
5,061

(4,793)

(268)

-
-
- 

973

1,305
2,356

(1,051)

15
-
-
-

(110)
(243)
133

-
-
-

(237)

973
2,128

(1,155)

973

The Competition Commission
Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)
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2006 
R'000

2005 
R'000

Balance brought forward

Computer equipment

Carrying amount at beginning of year
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Additions
Held for disposal in previous year - not disposed
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Held for disposal
Cost 
Accumulated depreciation
Disposals
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Depreciation for the year

Carrying amount at end of year
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Office equipment and catering equipment

Carrying amount at beginning of year
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Additions
Held for disposal in previous year - not disposed
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Held for disposal
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Disposals
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Depreciation for the year

Carrying amount at end of year
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Balance carried forward

755

588

771
2,822

(2,051)  

315
-

309
(309)

-
(309)
309

-
-
-

(498)  

588
3,137

(2,549)

40

62
1,134

(1,072)

9
-

252
(252)

-
(252)
252

-
(18)
18

(31)

40
1,125

(1,085)

1,383

973

771

1,074
3,556

(2,482)  

165
-
-
-
-

(309)
309

(1)
(590)
589

(467)  

771
2,822

(2,051)

62

219
1,757

(1,538)

9
-
-
-
-

(252)
252

(5)
(380)
375

(161)

62
1,134

(1,072)

1,806

The Competition Commission
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2006 
R'000

2005 
R'000

Balance brought forward

Motor vehicles

Carrying amount at beginning of year
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Depreciation for the year

Carrying amount at end of year
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Cell phones

Carrying amount at beginning of year
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Depreciation for the year

Carrying amount at end of year
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

1,383

13

30
202

(172)
(17)

13
202

(189)

-

1
2

(1)
(1)

-
2

(2)

1,806

30

47
202

(155)
(17)

30
202

(172)

1

1
2

(1)
- 

1
2

(1)

The Competition Commission
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Assets with a bookvalue of R86 641 (R110 120 : 2005), consisting of computer equipment, furniture and fittings, office equipment
and catering equipment, is being held for disposal in the near future.  These assets are not currently utilized by the Commission
and will be disposed by means of donation or auctioning, pending approval from National Treasury.  The Commission anticipates
the disposal to take place within the next twelve months. 

The Commision is leasing equipment under a finance lease.  The lease agreement does not impose any restrictions. The lease
agreement can be extended at the end of the three year period for a further period.

2006 
R'000

2005
R'000

13 Trade and other receivables

Trade debtors
Receiver of Revenue (VAT)
Other

Total

77
922
12 

1,011

18
649

6

673

The Competition Commission
Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2006

2006 
R'000

2005 
R'000

Leased assets
Photocopiers

Carrying amount at beginning of year
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Additions
Depreciation for the year

Carrying amount at end of year
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

TOTAL
ASSETS HELD FOR DISPOSAL
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

TOTAL ASSETS

87

413
898

(485)
-

(326)

87
898

(811)

1,483
87

804
(717)

1,570

413

578
771

(193)
127

(292)

413
898

(485)

2,250
110
804

(694)

2,360
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17 Deferred income

Opening balance
New grants awarded
Government grant - ICN conference

Closing balance

-
2,095
2,095 

2,095

-
-
-

-

The amount of the grant deferred relates to a grant received from government to utilize in hosting the International Competition
Network conference in May 2006.  This amount was included in the Commission's annual transfer and will be offset against the
expenditure in the 2007 financial year.

15 Trade and other payables

Trade payables & accruals
Bonuses due to employees
Leave due to employees

Total

16 Provisions

Opening carrying amount
Additional provisions

Closing carrying amount

6,696
162

1,217 

8,075

-
466 

466

15,266
377

1,097

16,740

-
-  

-  

The provision for the current year represents amounts due to Executive Committee members with regard to their performance
bonuses.  It is anticipated that these amounts will be paid within three months after year end.

The Competition Commission
Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2006

2006 
R'000

2005
R'000

14 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank
Corporation of Public Deposits
Cash on hand

Total

5,109
44,841

1 

49,951

3,496
42,565

1

46,062

2006 
R'000

2005
R'000
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2006
R'000

2005 
R'000

2006
R'000

2005 
R'000

The Competition Commission
Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2006

19 Prior period error

The prior year figures have been adjusted with the correction of an error relating to previously reported operating leases, now being
classified as finance leases in terms of IAS17.
The financial statements of 2005 has been restated to correct this error.

The effect of the error was as follows:

Adjustment against opening accumulated surplus 31 March 2004

Decrease in equipment leases 
Loss to income statement due to vat claimed incorrectly
Increase in finance charges on finance leases
Increase in depreciation on finance leased asset

Decrease in surplus 31 March 2005

Increase in finance lease liability
Increase in finance lease asset cost
Increase in finance lease asset accumulated depreciation

Decrease in net assets 31 March 2005

(80)

358 
(45)

(113)
(292)

(92)

585 
(898)
485 

172 

18 Finance lease

Amounts payable under finance leases:
-  Minimum lease payment
-  Future finance charges
Outstanding balance
Less: Current portion due within 12 months

141
(4)

137
(137)

-

651 
(66)
585 

(448)
137

Obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessor's title to the leased asset.

78



2006
R'000

2005 
R'000

2006
R'000

2005 
R'000

23 Contingent liabilities

Litigations and claims

The Commission has a possible liability towards a former employee resulting from legal action taken by this employee.  The
Commission believes that based on current information, the legal proceedings will not likely result in a financial loss to the Commission.

22 Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment

(324)
- 

(324)

(316)
100 

(216)

The Competition Commission
Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2006

20 Reconciliation of surplus/(deficit) for the year to cash generated
from operations

Surplus/(deficit) for the year
Adjusted for:
-  Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
-  Interest received
-  Finance charges
-  Loss/(profit) on disposal of assets
Operating cash flows before working capital changes
Working capital changes
-  Increase in receivables
-  (Decrease)/increase in current liabilities

Cash generated from operations

9,989  

1,109
(3,345)

62
6

7,821
(6,443)

(337)
(6,106)

1,378

(255)

1,442
(3,403)

113
(94)

(2,197)
4,587
(239)

4,826 

2,390

21 Defined contribution plans

All employees are members of a defined contribution scheme administered by Sanlam Ltd.  The scheme is currently invested in
investment policies underwritten by Metropolitan Life.  As an insured fund, the Competition Commission Pension Fund complies
with regulation 28 of the Pension Funds Act of 1956.
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24 Future minimum lease payments

Operating lease commitments
Office rental

Up to 1 year
1 to 5 years

Total

5,752
23,009 

28,761

-
- 

-

The Commission is still awaiting the finalization of the rental agreement with the dti.  The Commission was however informed on
the amounts payable on the rental for the 2006/07 financial year.  The landlord (dti) indicated that the annual rental would increase
with the rate equal to inflation.  It is therefore accepted that the real value of rental would remain constant in future years.

Finance lease commitments
Photocopiers

Up to 1 year
1 to 5 years
More than 5 years

Total

136
-
- 

136

455
137

-

592

The Commission is leasing equipment under a finance lease.  The lease agreement does not impose any restrictions.  The lease
agreement can be extended at the end of the three year period for a further period.

2006
R'000

2005 
R'000

2006
R'000

2005 
R'000
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25 Financial instruments

Financial instruments are used to cover risks linked to the Commission's activities.  Each instrument is tied to an asset or liability.
Management of these instruments is centralised.

In the course of the Commission's business operations it is exposed to interest rate and credit risk.  The Commission has developed
a comprehensive risk management process to monitor and control these risks.  The risk management process relating to each of these
risks is discussed under the headings below.

Interest rate risk

The Commission's exposure to interest rate risk is managed by investing with the Corporation of Public Deposits to ensure
maximum interest on surplus funds.

Credit risk

Financial assets, which potentially subject the Commission to concentrations of credit risk, consist mainly of cash and trade
receivables.  The Commission's cash and short term deposits are placed with high credit quality financial institutions.  Credit risk
with respect to trade receivables is limited due to the nature of the Commission's revenue transactions.  Accordingly the
Commission has no significant concentration of credit risk.

Liquidity Risk

The Competition Commission's risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments.  The Competition
Commission regard this risk to be low, taking into consideration the Competition Commission's current funding structures and
availibility of cash resources.

Fair Values

At 31 March 2006 and 31 March 2005 the carrying amounts of cash and bank balances, accounts receivable and trade creditors
approximated their fair values due to the short-term maturities of these assets and liabilities.

26 Income tax exemption

The Commission is exempted from income tax in terms of Section 10(1)(a) of the Income Tax Act, 1962.
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NOTES 2006
R'000

2005 
R'000

27 Related parties

Related party relationships Relationship

The Competition Tribunal Public entity in National sphere
The Department of Trade and Industry Public entity in National sphere

Related party balances

Amounts included in Trade Payables regarding related parties
The Competition Tribunal
The Department of Trade and Industry
National Treasury

Related party transactions

Government grant received
The Department of Trade and Industry

Administrative expenses paid to related parties
The Department of Trade and Industry

Rent paid to related parties
The Department of Trade and Industry

Revenue received from related parties
The Competition Tribunal

Filing fees refunded net of operating expenses
The Competition Tribunal

Employee cost recovered from related parties
The Competition Tribunal

Penalties collected on behalf of related parties 
and transferred to related parties
National Treasury
The Department of Trade and Industry

1,765
136

-
1,901 

23,103 

505 

5,824 

367 

8,363 

1 

4,072
46,525
50,597 

851
75

7,811
8,737 

25,951 

206 

3,679 

1,317 

7,166 

1 

18,650
-

18,650 

The Competition Commission
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ANNEXURE 1A: GIFTS, DONATIONS AND SPONSORSHIPS RECEIVED

ANNEXURE 1B: GIFTS, DONATIONS AND SPONSORSHIPS PAID

NAME Nature of gift, donations or sponsorship LOCAL FOREIGN

2005/06
R'000

2004/05
R'000

2005/06
R'000

2004/05
R'000

InWEnt HP Laptop and Projector 18

Total gifts, donations and sponsorships
received

- - - 18

NAME Nature of gift, donations or sponsorship LOCAL FOREIGN

2005/06
R'000

2004/05
R'000

2005/06
R'000

2004/05
R'000

Department of Education: Mpumalanga 10 Computers (Written off) - -

Department of Education: North-West 10 Computers (Written off) - -

Department of Education: Limpopo 10 Computers (Written off) - -

Department of Education: Northern Cape 10 Computers (Written off) - -

Department of Education: Free State 10 Computers (Written off) - -

Department of Education: Eastern Cape 10 Computers (Written off) - -

Department of Education: Kwa-Zulu Natal 10 Computers (Written off) - -

Total gifts, donations and sponsorships
paid

- -

83

These 70 computers were donated to the various Provincial Departments of Education in line with the requirements of the Supply Chain Framework
of 2003.
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REPORT ON PLANNED ACTIVITIES FOR 2005/06

PREDETERMINED
OBJECTIVE

TARGETS ACHIEVEMENTS

Review draft bills and
policies

Comments on the following:

Health Professions Amendment Bill

EDI Restructuring Bill

Convergence Bill

Bill not yet released

Comments submitted to Parliamentary Portfolio Committee on Minerals and
Energy

Comments submitted to Portfolio Committee on Communications
Oral presentation given to Parliamentary Portfolio Committee on
Communications
Comments on mobile prices discussion document submitted
Comments and presentation: ICASA’s discussion document into handset
subsides

Review and analyse
existing legislation to
identify anti-competitive
clauses

10 Legislations Reviewed:
- Financial Services Board on Short-term Insurance Act
- Hibiscus Municipality
- Estate Agency Affairs Board
- Companies Amendment Bill

Create and maintain useful
relationships with key
government departments 

3 government departments
Department of Minerals & Energy
Department of Public Enterprise
Department of Communication

Informal contacts were created only through arising cases

No working teams could be established

Develop and issue
guidelines / notices on our
approach to the Act

5 Notices One draft notice has been produced; the rest are pending

Consult with and engage
practitioners on the notices
before we adopt them

2 workshops

20 participants per workshops

No workshops took place; will commence once notices are finalised

Position papers / policy
recommendations for the
energy, telecom, ports and
transport sectors

Policy paper update on electricity
restructuring processes

Final policy paper on energy – submitted "Electricity Regulation and
Distribution"

Economic briefs

Short courses on
economics

Seminars

12 per annum

12 per annum

12 per annum

Apr – Jun 05: 1 brief circulated
Jul – Sep 05: 4 briefs circulated
Oct – Dec 05: 1 brief circulated
Jan – Mar 06: 4 briefs circulated

Internal training conducted on
25-26 May 05
23-24 Nov 05. 

External training postponed due to lack of capacity
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PREDETERMINED
OBJECTIVE

TARGETS ACHIEVEMENTS

Hold SA Competition
Economics Forum
seminars

Three per annum 2 meetings held
16 Feb 05 &
28 Jul 05

3rd meeting cancelled due to poor attendance
Research reports Final report on regulation of water use

Final report on airport regulation

Submitted

To be conducted at a later stage due to lack of capacity

Provide legislative reviews
on the Act, Rules and
Tribunal Rules

Ongoing Engaged in a review of the Competition Act and Rules: this review to form
part of the dti’s broad review of competition law and policy

Provide practical guidelines
on identified issues such
as abuses of dominance,
search and seizure

1 per quarter Hosted a training workshop on price discrimination by dominant firms

Lecture notes also made available for staff

No further training / guidelines were produced due to capacity constraints

Respond to legal
challenges against our
decisions and defence of
cases before the High
Court, Competition Appeal
Court and Supreme Court
of Appeal

Ongoing 4 appeals / reviews in the Competition Appeals Court

2 in the High Court

1 in the Supreme Court of Appeals

Research reports into key
sectors and economic
methodology

Report on WTO Doha Round 
Report on bilateral trade agreements

Assessment of new developments in
providing access to low-cost banking

Four short sector-specific reports on
request of the Commissioner

Final report submitted in February 06

Final report submitted

Final report submitted

Conduct information
contacts as an alternative
to initiating cases affecting
SMMEs and HDIs.

10 information contacts relating to SMME /
HDI issues

3 information contacts were conducted

Assist companies in
developing & implementing
Compliance Programs

5 firms

All others on ad hoc basis

2 companies were assisted with draft compliance programmes

Written Clarifications 10 clarifications to SMME and Black
businesses

10 clarifications to big business and
practitioners

42 clarifications issued

72 clarifications issued to big business

Provide advisory opinions
on request to increase
level of understanding of
the Act by practitioners
and business

50 advisory opinions 47 advisory requests were received and issued 
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PREDETERMINED
OBJECTIVE

TARGETS ACHIEVEMENTS

Monitor mergers that we
have not been notified
about

15 non-notified mergers 22 non-notified matters were followed up:

4 were eventually notified

6 were found to be small mergers

6 turned out not to be mergers as envisaged in the Act

6 are pending
Research and develop
policy approach to SMME
/ HDI issues

1 policy document on approach to SMME
/ HDI issues

Draft policy available

Training session on how to
file quality submissions

Case specific

3 training sessions

10-15 participants

Conducted a road show in 6 provinces

104 union delegates attended

Appoint efficient
communications service
provider

Tender issued

Appointment

Tender issued

TBWA appointed as provider

Improve media skills of
management / media
interactions /enquiries

6 managers trained No training was done 

Training done on an ad hoc base

Produce relevant
publications

Annual report

Newsletter 

Other publications

1500 Annual Reports distributed

2000 Newsletters distributed

Other publications on ad hoc basis

2500 Annual Reports printed and distributed

4 x 2000 Newsletters printed and distributed

3000 Graduate Trainee flyers
3000 Pocket Act
500 Consumer flyers
500 Labour flyers

Develop strategic media
campaigns / responses

Media release 

Public statements

Advertorial

Media briefs

Conference

120 articles: 40 per annum 

80% delegates attended

3 564 media-generated articles

14 Media releases

None

5 Advertorials

1 Media briefing

No conference this year: preparations for hosting the ICN Conference next year

Update staff on current CC
issues

Newsflashes 48 newsflashes circulated internally 37 newsflashes circulated



88

PREDETERMINED
OBJECTIVE

TARGETS ACHIEVEMENTS

Impact assessment study

Review of communication
strategy

Support our activities with
relevant communication

1 Impact assessment study

Review Communication strategy

Support Commission activities

No study for the year: study done bi-annually

Review done by TBWA

Managed the following activities:
Happy Hour
Award Ceremony
Year End Function
Cell C Function

Drive the Regulators
Forum and increase
participation and publicity
of / for the forum

Quarterly meetings

Newsletter

Updated website

Seminars

Comments on regulatory
issues

4 Quarterly meetings

4 Quarterly newsletters

1 Website update

2 Seminars / workshops

Comments to be made on ad hoc basis

3 quarterly meetings

4 x 2000 Newsletters

Ongoing

1 Workshop

Negotiate and conclude
cooperation agreements
and agencies

Priority sectors 
Government departments – DME; DPE;
DTI; DOC 
5 to 10 agreements

Engaged in negotiations on one Memoranda of Understanding with
Registrar of Banks

Efficient Schedule 1
exemption applications
investigations

To be completed within 12 months of
receipt

2 Exemption applications expected.

Received none for 2005/06

Efficient Section 10
exemption applications
investigations and
evaluations

To be completed within 12 months of
receipt

3 - 4 exemption applications expected

SAA filed 3 applications for exemption:
Star Alliance, Mozambique & Quantas

Application for exemption also received from the Association of Shipping lines

Proactive initiation of
investigations into anti-
competitive behaviour in
priority industries

4 initiations within 12 months Initiated the following complaints:
Ussher Inventions Lasher Tools Pabar
Ampath Trust Lancet Laboratories, Nu Metro Home entertainment, Nu
Metro and Ster Kinekor and SAA Cargo 

Screening of complaints Within 15 days of receipt of complaints Cases were screened within 15 days of receipt

Comply with provisions of
Memoranda of Agreement
with other Regulatory
Authorities

Engage relevant Regulatory Authorities in
100% of relevant cases

Although no formal MOA yet; liaised with Dept of Transport on code share
matters
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PREDETERMINED
OBJECTIVE

TARGETS ACHIEVEMENTS

Drive Corporate Leniency
Policy

Increase prosecutions for cartel activity

3 – 4 applications expected

CLP application received in air cargo industry

Two other contacts were received for possible applications regarding fixing
of fuel surcharges

Monitoring compliance
with exemption conditions
and undertakings

Thorough monitoring of compliance with
conditional exemption approvals and
undertakings

Previous SAA exemption for code share with Qantas subject to conditions:
investigating full compliance

Database on merger
activity

An up-to-date database on key merger
statistics

Database update finalised after the end of the financial year: merger
statistics available for 2005/06 

Prosecution of cases in the
Competition Tribunal

Ongoing (case related) The Nationwide abuse of dominance case against SAA was finalised and an
administrative penalty of R45-million imposed by the Tribunal

LSD was also involved in 12 other enforcement prosecutions before the
Tribunal and represented us in numerous complex merger cases

Consent orders and
settlement agreements

Ongoing (case related) 11 consent agreements were confirmed as consent orders by the Tribunal:
these incorporated administrative penalties totalling R40.425 million 

Merger Investigations Cases finalised in time and correct
decisions and recommendations made

Fast track cases finalised within 20 days
(internal service standard commitment)

Phase 1 cases finalised within 20 days
(internal standard) based on adequacy of
information

Phase 2 cases finalised within 25 days
(internal standard) based on adequacy of
information

Phase 3 cases finalised within statutory
time limits and stood the test of rigorous
scrutiny by management and external
parties e.g. Tribunal etc

53 cases qualified for fast tracking: finalised in an average of 14 business
days

318 Phase 1 cases finalised within an average turnaround time of 24 days

60 Phase 2 cases were finalised within an average turnaround time of 48
days

16 phase 3 cases finalised within the statutory time limits

Note: Internal standards on Phase 1 and 2 cases not met due to
inadequate information in merger filings - continuous need for additional
information and a 32% increase in merger filings whilst available resources
remained constant

Educating practitioners on
fast-tracking through
follow-up letters

Letters sent to practitioners on all Phase 1
cases that do not qualify for fast-tracking

Activity removed from procedures as it was seen to be administratively
burdensome without having the desired effect

Replaced by direct communication with practitioners at a workshop and the
publication of a newsletter article informing practitioners of our fast-tracking
procedures

Workshop and newsletter article finalised
Publishing of horizontal
merger guidelines

Publishing of 4 horizontal merger
guidelines

Project moved to 2006/07 financial year due to capacity constraints and
high case load resulting from the 32% increase in merger filings
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PREDETERMINED
OBJECTIVE

TARGETS ACHIEVEMENTS

Educate and assist
practitioners to understand
the Competition Act

2 presentations

48 clarifications

350 enquiries

60 meetings

8 presentations held reaching 246 stakeholders: 1 Breakfast Meeting with
Gauteng Legal practitioners held and attended by 59 lawyers (mainly merger
regulation issues related to employment and trade unions discussed)

72 clarifications issued following requests from big businesses

312 telephonic inquiries professionally attended to; enquirers assisted with
their queries

89 meetings held with 220 company representatives and law firms;
Guidance in terms of the Act was provided

Increase awareness in
foreign investors about the
competition regulatory
framework in SA

2 articles – 2000 readers reached
1 seminar – 20 participants

This was reviewed and was discontinued

Foreign investors to be targeted using our existing publications

Information Campaigns /
Exhibitions

3 campaigns / exhibitions held

Target investors, consumers and SMMEs

3 Exhibitions held

Workshops for trade
unions 

2 workshops

80% attendance

Made a presentation during Ditsela’s workshop for trade unions: 30 people
attended

Properly summarised
Commission decisions

Ongoing This project abandoned due to capacity constraints and the prioritisation of
case-related assistance and the presentation of cases before the Tribunal

Improved budgeting
mechanisms, in line with
PFMA

Budget vs. actual variances not to deviate
by more than 15% by year-end

Deviation of 12% achieved at year-end

Update the supplier
database

Compliance with the PFMA Supplier database updated

Timeous budget revision
and projections

At least twice a year i.e. October &
February

Budget revision completed in September & submitted to DTI

Research and develop
systems for the effective
utilisation of IT

Highly effective & reliable IT systems

100% system availability

Email-extender installed.

Upgrade SPS and to
create interactive Portal for
document management
and file sharing

Effective knowledge management systems SPS upgraded and all data moved to new system

Improved remote access
across all zones

High availability of critical systems VPN configured, but not working properly due to DTI fire-walling systems

Effective management of
the Graduate Training
Program

Shorter graduate recruitment process Three tertiary institutions visited during the period under review: main aim
was to strengthen alliances with these institutions for them to supply us with
high calibre trainees

Effective recruitment and
retention strategy

Reduced recruitment times and costs Recruitment turnaround times lower than previous period: job grading
project initiated and carried forward to 2006/07 for finalisation
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PREDETERMINED
OBJECTIVE

TARGETS ACHIEVEMENTS

Co-ordinate Training and
Development

Training in line with the Workplace Skills
Plan

Training in line with Workplace Skills Plan and organisation’s needs

Provision of efficient
records management
systems

Retrieval:
Electronically within 2 hours
Hard copies within 24 hours

All finalised cases accessible to public on
website

Well-stored documents

Easily accessible records.

Improved accessibility of non-case
documents.

Best systems implemented and on-time
delivery of documents.

Retrieval:  Electronic retrievals done within 2 hours whereas offsite stored
documents done within 24 hours

2002 – 2003 finalised cases published on the website: since February 2006
all notified cases are accessible to public

All documents stored offsite and controlled as per Service Level Agreement
(SLA)

Accessibility as per SLA:  Express / 8 hrs / 24 hrs

Service provider adheres to stipulated timeframes as per SLA

Revise & update the
Section 14 Manual of the
Promotion of Access to
Information Act

Updated manual: 100% compliance with
legislation

Updated manual published in February 2006: review is ongoing as per
legislation requirements

Implement and co-ordinate
contingency plan and
Occupational Health and
Safety legislation

0% Casualty in cases of disaster

Compliance with Occupational Health &
Safety legislation

No casualties experienced

Compliance with legislation observed
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